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Preface

British imperialism with all that it engenders and cataclysmic events like the
two wars, had consequences for how Australians are seen by others and how they
see themselves. This topic examines the external influence on Australian culture
and the implications of this for a secure and prosperous future. In this final section
of course we examine a number of historical turning points in the development of
modern Australia during the twentieth century. We will look to the internal and
external influences on the formation of an Australian culture. In the twentieth
century Australian's national vision was shaped by catastrophes such as war and
policy change in the area of immigration in the post war era. Furthermore, as
Australian society moves towards multiculturalism in the late twentieth and
twenty-first centuries we will highlight the richness and diversity of Australian
culture since federation.



Part 1
1.1 A New Beginning for All?
The new parliament

The first Parliament of the newly created Commonwealth of Australia was
opened with due formality and pageantry in the temporary federal capital of
Melbourne, on May 9 1901. Public enthusiasm for the event should not, as one
historian has reminded us, "be allowed to disguise the fact that it was to the
several States which replaced the six colonies, rather than to the superimposed
Federal structure, that the rank and file of Australia's four million inhabitants gave
their first thought and most of their loyalty, at least until after the outbreak of the
Great War."! The people, who had been strongly divided on the issue of
federation, had still to accept whole-heartedly the new system. The first
Commonwealth parliamentarians, Government and Opposition alike, would be
obliged to prove themselves and show considerable tact in the handling of the
delicate subject of the States' rights.

An interim Government had actually been formed in December 1900, in
advance of the elections, to prepare the work of the future parliament. Its leader
was Edmund Barton, the New South Wales politician, who had carried on the
difficult fight for federation from 1891. Barton, a former Speaker of the New
South Wales Legislative Assembly, had won high respect as a politician. The
choice of him as first national leader, a post he continued to hold after the
election, was generally popular. The election campaign showed which tasks the
major political groupings considered most important for the new Parliament to
handle. Inevitably, the tariff issue loomed large. This was the matter which, more
than any other, had split the colonies and set the lines of political division.
Edmund Barton attempted to avoid a head-on clash on the question publicly
proposing a compromise tariff as the aim of the first budget. But the leader of the
free traders, George Reid, insisted that protectionism in any form was still
protectionism and that fiscal policy was the major issue in the election. The
Labour Party was itself divided on the question, largely along State lines.

Apart from taking a moderate line on the tariff question, Barton concentrated
mainly upon matters relating to the machinery of government, such as the taking
over of customs, defence and post offices, the selection of the federal capital site,
the introduction of universal suffrage for federal elections, and the setting up of a
High Court of Australia. He also promised to apply immigration restrictions to the
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entry of non-Europeans, to introduce legislation for the conciliation and
arbitration of inter-State industrial disputes, to start the building of a trans-
continental railway, and to provide a national system of old-age pensions as soon
as the financial situation permitted. George Reid made free trade his rallying cry.
He also opposed old-age pensions and other proposals made by Barton, on the
grounds of the expense involved.

The poll, held in late March 1901, returned 75 members of the House of
Representatives and 36 Senators, and secured for the Commonwealth Parliament a
remarkable number of able and politically experienced men. In the House of
Representatives alone, no less than 58 had previously served in colonial
parliaments, and of these 10 had been premiers and 12 more had held ministerial
office. In origin and occupation, they formed a reasonable cross-section of the
population at large. As is the case in many political assemblies, lawyers were
somewhat over-represented. There were 15 barristers in the House. But there were
also pastoralists, miners, manufacturers, journalists, merchants, trade union
officials, teachers, a physician and a clergyman. Barton's Ministry reflected the
high level of experience in the Parliament. Of the 8§ members besides Barton
himself, no less than 5 were former colonial premiers. It was indeed, as the news-

papers dubbed it, "a team of captains."?

However, while the election results had proved satisfactory in terms of the
quality of the nation's representatives, they had not ensured stable and effective
government. Three broad groups could be discerned in the new Parliament: the
free traders, who commanded 27 votes in the House of Representatives and 17 in
the Senate; the protectionists, with 32 and 11 seats respectively; and the Labor
Party, with 16 and 8. But the lines were by no means as clearly drawn as their
breakdown suggests. Only the Labour Party formed a disciplined and cohesive
group. The others were divided by a number of cross-cutting conflicts, some
ideological and others concerned with State, regional and sectional interests,
which marked conservatives from liberals.

Batron's team was protectionist in policy and predominantly liberal in
outlook, although it included some thoroughgoing conservatives. Ranged against
it was the redoubtable Reid and his free traders. The Government required the
support of Labor to remain in office, and this was given only from day to day,
without any formal alliance. Labor, in fact, was intent upon carrying on the tactics
which it had used with considerable success in several colonial assemblies - of
trading its votes to the party which would best cater for its interests.

The fact that Barton and his successors as Prime Minister, Alfred Deakin,
survived the entire term of the first Parliament, in a situation which Deakin was to
liken to a cricket match played with three sides, was due to the common political
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ground that existed between the liberals and the moderate Labor men who headed
that party 's parliamentary group. Both groups emerged in response to the
problems posed by a society which was growing in size, complexity and diversity.
New social currents were discernible, among them a greater sense of
Australianess, a strident and often narrow nationalism, restiveness at Imperial
control, and a vague recognition of the need to establish relationships with the
outside world. The bitter industrial disputes of the nineties had shattered the
complacent belief in uninterrupted and harmonious development, and had
stimulated the trend toward a concern for social welfare and state regulation. This
had been manifested in pre-federation days by a widening of the franchise,
increased powers for elected legislative assemblies, the beginnings of social
insurance, factory legislation and machinery for arbitrating industrial disputes,
and the spread of compulsory secular education.

There were , nonetheless, differences of outlook between the liberals and the
Labor Party. Firstly, the liberals did not share the Labor Party's belief in the
virtues of centralised government, and their support for social reform was
tempered by reservations about too much state interference in areas which should
be the private citizen's responsibility. Above all, they recoiled at the disciplined
character of the Labor Party, and its socialist objective to which all Labor men
gave at least their nominal blessing. But, in the early years of Federation, these
were not immediate issues of concern. As the election programmes indicated, the
tasks facing the first Parliament were ones which liberals and Labor could
approach in a similar spirit.

An added factor promoting unity of purpose between the Government and
Labor was that both Barton and John Watson, the Labor leader, were men who
tended towards the centre. They moderated their principles with strong doses of
compromise and pragmatism. Personally courteous and restrained in manner, each
man held his group together and earned the respect of the other by his moderate
and tactful style of leadership. The situation was quite different where the liberals
and George Reid were concerned. Their differences were sharpened by the
personal animosity arising from Reid's "Yes - No" attitude towards the
referendum on federalism in New South Wales in 1898.

The tariff question was the greatest hurdle confronting the Barton government
to start with. Parliament's vote on this issue would be unpredictable but it would
decide the fate of the Ministry. It was an issue which the Government could not
evade, for it was obliged by the terms of the Federation to raise revenue for its
own expenses from a quarter of the amount it collected, and to return to the States
enough to make up for the loss of their own customs duties. Both major parties,
but not the Labor Party, agreed that the whole amount must be raised through the
customs, and that the Commonwealth must not engage in direct taxation. There
were wide differences of opinion, however, on how this was to be done: whether
by preserving the high degree of protection which had helped the new industries



in Victoria especially, or by spreading the duties as lightly and evenly as possible
over a wide selection of consumer goods.

The Government's own proposals were inevitably a compromise between
these two extremes. In the year-long debates that raged over the issue, further
modification were made in the direction of reduced duties. But eventually, with
Labor's support, the main lines of the Government's policy were adopted with
relative ease. Though few at the time realised it, the tariff issue was never again to
figure so largely in parliamentary affairs. Once the principle of protection had
been established, further measures in that direction followed almost as a matter of
course. When, from 1905 onwards, they became linked to guarantees of minimum
wages and conditions for workers in protected industries. Labor as a whole gave
its firm support.

In contrast to the tariff issue, the ending of the use of coloured labour in
Australia, principally in Queensland's sugar industry, and the preservation of the
country's identity as a white nation, were matters upon which all parties in
Parliament agreed as a matter of principle. Hence, an Act for the gradual
repatriation of indentured Pacific Island labourers was passed in 1901 without
parliamentary opposition. The debate on the more general provisions of the
Immigration Restriction Act brought out differences, concerned almost solely
with why and how the ban on coloured immigrants should be enforced.

Closely linked to the White Australia Policy, at least in the minds of some
parliamentarians, was the need for a defence policy for the Commonwealth. As an
immediate step, the Government proposed amid general agreement to take over
the small defence units maintained by the States and to unify them into one
Australian force, supplemented by a voluntary militia. However, the debate on the
Defence Bill turned into a discussion on the adequacy or otherwise of the
prevailing arrangements Great Britain had undertaken for the security of the
colonies, principally by maintaining a naval squadron in Australian waters.

Aroused national sentiment and a feeling that more energetic defence
measures were called for prompted some members to press for a more
comprehensive and far-reaching policy. The most outspoken representative of this
was Labor's W.M. Hughes, whose views combined a real fear of Japan as a threat
to Australia's security with opposition to a professional standing army, which he
saw as an aristocratic institution dangerous to democratic liberty. Hughes's
constructive proposals included the foundation of an Australian naval force and
the introduction of universal military training. Although in advance of the nation's
resources and thinking in 1901, the concepts he put forward were to be adopted
before the decade was out.

The other major piece of legislation discussed by the first Parliament, and the
only one of a distinctly social character, was the Conciliation and Arbitration Bill.
There was substantial agreement on this matter, especially between the



government and the Labour Party. Both the liberals and Labor had reacted to the
industrial turmoil of the 1890s, by looking to the State to intervene between
employers and employees, and to impose reasonable restraints upon both.
Opposition to the principles of the Bill mostly occurred outside Parliament, the
more radical elements on both sides of the industrial fence finding its provisions
objectionable. Nevertheless, the Barton Government's legislation, which provided
for the establishment of a court with compulsory powers to arbitrate on inter-State
labour disputes, did not become law during the life of the first Parliament. Labor
succeeded in amending the Bill to extend its coverage to government employees,
but this proved unacceptable to the Ministry and the Bill was shelved.

At the same time a great deal of unspectacular but essential work was
undertaken to put flesh on the bones of the new Federal structure. The Judiciary
Act authorised the Government to set up a High Court exercising original
jurisdiction in most cases involving disputes between the Commonwealth and the
States, or among the States themselves, and an appellate jurisdiction between the
State Supreme Courts and the Privy Council in London. The High Court was to
prove an immensely important institution, its interpretations of the constitution
doing a great deal to define, if not actually to create in practice, the extent of the
respective powers of the Commonwealth and the States.

Less noticed, but of equal importance, was the organising of an efficient and
responsible civil service. The Federal Government took over the personnel of
some State departments which had exercised functions now taken over by the
Commonwealth body, but in the main an entirely new force of public servants had
to be recruited. In the Public Service At of 1902, current State practice was
followed requiring that entry to the service should be by competitive examination.
But the Commonwealth public service was to place greater emphasis on seniority
as the basis for promotion, a practice which produced controversial results as far
as efficiency was concerned.

Among the departmental heads appointed by the Barton Ministry, two in
particular were to give hand and distinguished service to the Commonwealth. By
their experience and strong personalities they came to exercise considerable
influence upon successive governments. They were Robert Garran, Secretary to
the Attorney-General's Department, and Atlee Hunt, Secretary to the Prime
Minster and the first head of the Department of External Affairs.

In more indefinable ways, too, both Government and Parliament contributed
to the consolidation of the new national democratic institutions. The standard of
parliamentary conduct they set was one that later bodies were not always able to
equal. Senator Groom, the oldest Member of Parliament and a veteran Queensland
politician, wrote to his son after one month's experience of sitting in Federal
Parliament: "The more [ am here and sit in the House and hear the speeches of the
Members, the more I notice the enormous contrast between us and the



mediocrities of Queensland. The tone of the House too is good. There is not class

hatred or bitterness.">

Looking back after 40 years, W.M. Hughes was to say:

The business of Parliament in the early years of Federation was controlled by
its members to a very much greater extent than nowadays...Members took
their duties very seriously, speeches were carefully prepared, authorities
consulted, and every question considered on its merits...The times were
spacious, parliamentary business moved with leisurely and even tread.
Measures were not rushed through parliament without time being given for
free and full discussion. These modern time-saving devices, limiting speeches,
guillotining debates, were unknown....But this did not prevent the despatch of
public business, for Parliament sat almost continuously. Sittings were longer

and session extended over the greater part of the year.*

At the same time the proceedings did not lack colour and liveliness. The
presence of such members as the coarse, but witty, George Reid, the gnome-like
and provocative Hughes, and the silver-tongued Deakin, regarded by some
knowledgeable contemporaries as the greatest living orator of his time in
Australia, were guarantees of that.

Edmund Barton resigned as Prime Minister in September 1903, to take a seat
on the newly constituted High Court Bench. He was succeeded by Alfred Deakin,
who saw out the short time remaining before the general elections in the following
December. The achievements of the first Parliament of the Commonwealth may
have fallen short of the election promises of the Government, and the hopes of
many members as they took their seats in it for the first time. But, from a later
vantage point, it is possible to recognise its positive merits. Despite the fluid state
of party alignments, the Government managed to dispose of 38 Acts of major
importance, as well as 21 routine financial measures. In less than three years, the
enduring institutional basis of the Commonwealth was laid in a manner which
later administrations could build upon.?

However, Federation did not carry advantages for all Australian people.

3 Ibid. p. 1467.
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Aborigines begin to struggle for equal rights

Section 127 of the Constitution of the Commonwealth read: "in the reckoning the
numbers of the people of the Commonwealth, or of a State or other part of the
Commonwealth, Aboriginal natives shall not be counted." Thus, according to the
founding fathers, the new-born Commonwealth did not recognise the existence of
the original Australians. It would not make laws for them, give them a vote, or
even count their heads.

When white settlement began in 1788, there may have been as many as 300,000
Aborigines scattered over the continent. But throughout the nineteenth century,
their numbers decreased catastrophically. Deprived of their hunting grounds, they
starved, or perished from the diseases of the white man. Many were killed in
clashes with the settlers, who also on occasions poisoned their water holes or fed
them poisoned wheat cakes. The Aborigines' resistance and their attempts at
retaliation were regarded as criminal acts to be punished ruthlessly and
indiscriminately. By 1969 there were only about 50,000 full-blood and 90,000
part-Aborigines on the mainland, and the full-blood Tasmanian Aborigines had
long been hounded to extinction.

Not until the 1860s were attempts made by any of the self-governing colonies
to set aside reserves for Aborigines, and to give them some protection. Aboriginal
welfare was of little concern to the politician. There were no votes in it. Missions,
rather than governments, tried to provide Aborigines with food, clothing, medical
care, education, and, of course, religion. When the overlander Francis Birtles
returned from Darwin to Adelaide in 1924, he wrote: "The blacks of central
Australia are being starved to death. Their state in some areas is appalling and a
national scandal."

Their traditional way of life largely lost to them, many Aborigines chose the
protection of the station camp, where they could live in a semi-tribal state. While
they were there, and worked, they were given paternalistic security. Many
Aborigines became an indispensable and valued part of station life, and it
sometimes seemed that these circumstances offered the best chance for the
survival of Aboriginal cultural identity. But many of the black farm hands lived in
virtual serfdom, with their traditions discarded and their freedom of movement
curtailed. It was not uncommon for the Aboriginal labourer to be regarded as his
master's property, and for absconders to be brought back by force and with police
help. As late as 1949, Aboriginal hands on Western Australian cattle-runs
received no wages, and five years later, the commissioner of Native Affairs in
Perth reported that in most cases they were receiving "little better than pocket
money and keep," a state of affairs he described as "traditional and time-
honoured".

In 1972, it was estimated that about 70,000 of Australia's 140,000 Aborigines
lived in or near the major cities and towns, about 50,000 in missions and
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settlements mainly in Northern and Central Australia, and 15,000 on pastoral
properties. Only a few hundred were living in independent communities. In the
country, many occupied squalid shacks on the fringe of townships. In the cities
they were generally huddled in shabby, overcrowded tenements in rundown
suburbs. Not surprisingly, the Aboriginal infant mortality rate was ten times that
of whites, and respiratory infections, gastro-intestinal diseases, and leprosy, were
prevalent.

By 1951, there was general agreement that Aborigines should be equipped for
equal citizenship. But the process had been slow. A turning point was the
referendum held in 1967, when the people of Australia voted by a 10-1 majority
to amend the outworn Constitution by giving power to the Commonwealth to
make laws and plans for the Aboriginal people, and to include them in the
national census.

After the referendum, the Federal Government set up a Commonwealth Office of
Aboriginal Affairs to co-ordinate Government policies, and a three-member
advisory Council for Aboriginal Affairs. But this did not mean that Aborigines
were suddenly better off than they had been. Legislation could not substitute
brick-and-tile homes for makeshift shanties, nor stamp out the prejudice and the
subtle types of discrimination what had existed for generations. In the Northern
Territory the Aborigines formed a council for Aboriginal Rights and organised
demonstrations, and in August 1966 the Gurindji people on Wave Hill Station
struck work in protest against low wages and poor conditions. This occurred some
months after the Commonwealth Arbitration commission had ordered that
Aborigines in the cattle industry should get equal pay with white workers, in three
years time, but that "slow workers" were to be exempted. The principle of a
"phased" increase of wages was unacceptable to the Aboriginal spokesmen, while
employers were unwilling to pay full wages as well as "keep" for dependants. In
March 1967 the Gurindji people occupied part of Wave Hill Station in an
unsuccessful attempt to force the Government to return their tribal land. The
Aboriginal Rights Council appealed unsuccessfully to the United Nations for help.

The appeal for land rights had become a serious issue in 1963 when 140
square miles of the 200 square-mile Yirrkala Mission at Gove on the Cape York
Peninsula was revoked to make way for the activities of a bauxite mining
company. The 500 Aborigines at Yirrkala presented a petition, stating their
grievances. A select committee was set up to deal with the claims, and its report
was tabled in October 1963. It recognised that the land was theirs in the deepest
moral sense, but acknowledged that vesting them with title was obstructed by
problems. It recommended that there should be a standby committee for ten years
"to examine, from time to time, the conditions of the Yirrkala people and the
carrying out of this committee's recommendations."

In 1971 the Yirrkala people's case was taken before the Northern Territory
Supreme Court, which ruled that Aboriginal titles to land could not be recognised



under Australian law. At the same time the Federal government announced a plan
for granting Aborigines general-purpose land leases in the territory. But this did
not satisfy many Aboriginal activists, who demanded absolute ownership of the
land. As Mr Paul Coe, a young Aboriginal law student at the University of New
South Wales put it: "The Aboriginal people want complete control of their affairs.
They don‘t want the white man telling them what to do. We are trying to break
down this idea of being an inferior race. Why should we lease our own land?"

The debate over the position of the original Australians, and especially over
land rights, has been lively. A major reason for the tenor of the debates is that land
is tangible, and its value depends on many factors, including the minerals that lie
beneath its surface. The arguments are intensified by emotional value judgements.
The racist view has always been that the Aborigine was inferior to the white, did
not make use of the land and thus did not deserve to hold on to it after 1788.
Therefore, the questions asked were, why should land be returned to the
Aborigines now and why should they gain from valuable land with minimal or no
effort, while the white has to work for wages?

It has only been in the last twenty years that the view has taken root in the
minds of ordinary white Australians that perhaps the Aboriginal people are owed
something. There has been a recognition among sections of the white population
of the intense relationship that Aborigines had with the land, of the fact that their
culture had be developed, was intricate and subtle in its own way and thus was
worthy of being accepted by whites as a culture. Some whites feel a sense of
shame about collective neglect and abuse of the Aborigines; some feel that no
existing generation can be held accountable for what happened in previous
generations; and some feel that whether or not the Aborigine can, or should be
invited to , assimilate, he is entitled to something, either in recompense or to help
sustain them for the future.

Just what Aboriginal people are entitled to is the subject of the hottest
debates. After the re-election of the Bob Hawke Labor Government in December
1984, the Federal Government's policy, so far as it related to the mining industry,
boiled down to three essentials. These were: the protection of Aboriginal sacred
sites; Aboriginal access to mining royalty equivalents; and Aboriginal control in
relation to mining on Aboriginal land. It has been accepted by Federal
governments of both Liberal-National and Labor complexions that to deny
Aborigines the right to prevent mining on their land was to deny the reality of
land rights, but the Federal government appeared to hedge this commitment when
it proposed an arbitration system to handle Aboriginal complaints about mining
proposals.

By mid 1985 the land rights picture was very blurred. New South Wales and
South Australia enacted land rights legislation as did the Northern Territory.
Significantly, in Queensland and Western Australia, rural and mining States, there
was great dispute about land rights. South Australia handed over 72,000 square
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kilometres of barren land on the edge of the Great Victoria Desert to the
Pitjantatjare peoples in late 1984, which was a triumph of sorts for ancestral
rights. But in Western Australia major groups in the mining and petroleum
industries were in direct conflict with the land aspiration of the Aborigines. Forty
per cent of Western Australia's total surface was eligible for land rights claims
under the Western Australian Government's land rights proposals.

The Brian Burke Labor Government of Western Australia opposed the veto
that the Federal Labor government had proposed to give to Aborigines in relation
to all mining ventures on this land, and opposed provision of royalties as well.
Even so, the WA Legislative Council rejected the legislation. This appeared to
open the way for over-riding Federal legislation, but that was opposed by black
leaders in New South Wales, South Australia and the Northern Territory, who
regarded their State and territorial laws as more to their liking.

Instead of the introduction of land rights bringing blacks and whites together,
the issue seemed to be widening the gap between them. The Western Australian
Government, in introducing its legislation, had sought to encourage mining
companies not to deter them. A Perth Lawyer appointed by the Government to
investigate the situation had concluded that there was no compelling economic
reason why Aboriginal communities should not have control over mining and
petroleum activity on Aboriginal land. After the Legislative Council blocked the
legislation, Sir Charles Court, the former Premier and elder statesman,
pronounced: "It is now time we brought the land rights nightmare to an end. There
is neither personal advancement nor moral justification for imposing on Australia
such festering racial inequality.*

In addition, relations had soured between the Federal Minister for Aboriginal
Affairs, Mr Clyde Holding, and sections of the mining industry that he accused of
using grossly distorted and exaggerated arguments against giving Aborigines
some control over mining. At the same time, Aboriginal leaders from all over
Australia met near Canberra and rejected out of hand the Government's Land
Rights Bill. The Australian Democrats Party was refusing to vote for any bill that
did not have the endorsement of black groups, and Western Australian ministers
opposed a national bill, so it looked as if federal legislation would be relegated to
the backburner, at least until the early 1990s.

The Mabo Decision

Australia remained terra nullius, a land belonging to no one, and a land
whose indigenous peoples were taken to be so primitive in their social
organisaiton that it was, specially speaking, unoccupied. There were, however,
figures within Australian public life who could see beyond this legal fiction of
Australia as empty, waste and desert. One of these people was anthropologist W E
H Stanner. He spoke and wrote of how "living Aborigines” could demonstrate
"beyond cavil" in an appropriate court the patent fact of their unbroken titles to
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parcels of land into the times of their ancestors. In a prophetic statement he
foretold of a time when this fact, buried within "the great Australian silence",
would find "a suitable set of conditions to come to the surface and be very
consequential indeed.” That moment of consequence seemed to have arrived on 3
June 1992 when the High Court announced its decision in the case which has
come to be known simply as Mabo. The group which demonstrated an unbroken
line of title before a court were not Aboriginal people. They were a group of
Meriam people: the Murray Islanders of the Torres Strait.

When the High Court of Australia decided to discard the legal fiction of
Australia as ferra nullius altogether, rather than limit its decision to the Murray
Islands, it was making a statement about justice: the injustice as well as the
illegality of English law in Australia over 200 years. In finding the resources to
reclaim the integrity of common law, to dissociate themselves and the law from
complicity in events which brought "unutterable shame" upon the Australian
nation, the judges were speaking to the question of a "moral claim to nationhood".
The Murray Island people became the bearers of this major break in the social and
moral discours". The Murray Island people differ "in culturally significant
ways...from the Aboriginal peoples of Australia," Justice Toohey noted, but for
the purposes of determining indigenous interests in land throughout Australia as a
whole, the relevant principles are the same." In recognising the rights of the
Murray Island people to land, the High Court reversed the legal position on which
Australia as a political entity was founded. Recognition of "common law native
title" placed Australia along side other former British colonies.

An expanded doctrine of terra nullius assumed that the Murray Island people,
together with all other indigenous people in Australia, were primitive and
uncivilised, without recognisable land laws or social organisation and hence lower
in the scale of humanity than the European settlers and their descendants. The
judgement strikes at the foundation upon which their inferior status rested. The
Murray Islanders, Justices Deane and Gaudron concluded, undoubtedly possess "a
local native system under which established familial or individual rights of
occupation and use were of a kind which far exceed the minimum requirements
necessary to found a presumptive common law native title."

In making a decisive break with the assumption of the exclusive operation of
one law, which formed the everyday common sense of the majority of Australian
citizenry, the High Court justices were completing a process that had been
pursued in court for ten years. In their first decision on 8 December 1988, known
in legal circles as Mabo (No 1), a majority of the High Court allowed for the
possibility that traditional Murray Islander‘s legal rights to land, still to be
ascertained at this stage, may exist. This decision declared the Queensland Coast
Islands Declamatory Act 1985, which extinguished any Murray Islander rights to
land that may have existed prior to and been restored since annexation of the
Torres Strait Islands in 1879, as inconsistent with the federal Racial
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Discrimination Act 1975, which inscribed equality before the law in legal statute.
On 3 June 1992, in Mabo (No. 2), the High Court identified a second category of
legal rights as "native" or "traditional" title, which Justice Brennan described as
"Interests and rights of indigenous inhabitants in land, whether communal, group
or individual, possessed under the traditional laws acknowledged and the
traditional customs observed by the indigenous inhabitants."®

The "native title era" in Australia begins with a dialogue of voices across the
frontier: stilled voices speak out from terra nullius, engaging with those silenced
by a belief in the universality of their own law and form of social being. Within a
continuing interplay of contrasting standpoints and political engagements,
changes in public consciousness have taken place. Even as sympathetic
interpreters of the High Court decision wrote of the "death of the concept of terra
nullius", resource-based industry spokespeople and their supporters in parliaments
and public life gave strident expression to its absence as a meaningful reality. A
softer version of disbelief in Aboriginal property rights grew of the need to
balance moral ideals with resource developers' moves to reduce title rights to a
bare minimum. Both responses rest upon the continuation of the terra nullius
myth that Aboriginal and Islander societies are primitive and so lack any potential
for self-initiated economic development. Running against this current of opinion
are strong statements from those Aboriginal and Islander people who are calling a
halt to dispossession and seek a self-determining future on traditionally owned
land or on land re-acquired.

As the news of the decision reverberated across the world, it began to break
apart the assumption of an Australian nation essentially without Aborigines and
Islanders, a realty that had been consolidated ever since federation in 1901. The
Murray Islanders were the carriers of that transformation because they had an
especially strong case to argue before an Australian court of continuous
possession, occupation and use of their islands. They were also "chosen" at a
particular moment of history when the forces conducive to an outcome favourable
to the rejection of terra nullius had generated a degree of moment.

In the first 48 hours following the judgement, emphasis was given in the
public arena to the moral rectitude of the High Court's decision. Read the selection
of articles from a variety of Australian newspapers.

skkock

In an overnight reversal from silence to shouting, recognition of the injustices
associated with the old certitudes became part of everyday life. The refection of
the "outrageous notion" of terra nullius had removed "the greatest barrier" to the
process of reconciliation between European Australians and indigenous peoples,

6 Nonie Sharp, No Ordinary Judgement,, Aboriginal Studies Press, (Canberra, 1996), pp. 3-5.



the Prime Minister told parliament on 4 June 1992. The fundamental issue on
which most non-indigenous Australians were totally ignorant became a common
public theme: "few people really know how Aborigines came to lose Australia",
the West Australian noted without the merest hint of explanation. With the "moral
victory" and "moral advance" borne by the decision, the removal of "a solemn blot
and 1nsult on the judicial landscape", came the admission that ferra nullius as an
idea was "always known to be false." It was as though the shadowed side of the
Australian nation had been illuminated by a new light.

The Native Title Act 1993 is the Commonwealth Government's legislative
response to the High Court's 1992 decision in Mabo vs State of Queensland (No.
2) (1992) . The Commonwealth Native Title Act became law on 1 January 1994.
This legislation gives statutory effect to much of the decision in Mabo while also
introducing new elements in relation to native title and providing a framework in
which native title can operate. The Act is designed to achieve four main
objectives: 1. the recognition and protection of native title to land, 2. the
regulation of future dealings affecting native title, 3. the establishment of a means
to deal with native title claims such as the Tribunal and court processes, and 4. the
validation of past acts if they have been invalidated because of the existence of
native title. The Act also included provision in Section 10 for a National
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Fund designed to assist in the indigenous
purchase of land. The issues arising from the Land Fund were still a matter of
political debate at the time of writing. The common law principle of "native title"
as established by the High Court of Australia in Mabo is recognised by the Native
Title Act 1993. The Act established a Native Title Tribunal, the functions of which
include the determination of claims involving the existence of native title, the
determination of compensation payable for extinguishment or impairment of
native title, the ascertaining of whether a government may grant an interest in land
held under or claimed for native title, and whether a government may
compulsorily acquire land where native title exists.

The Native Title Act 1993 removes uncertainty that may have existed in
relation to the validity of titles granted in the past. However, it does restrict the
States and Territories in the management of land, waters and resources and the
ability to grant licences, titles and permits in the future. While this legislation has
done much to deal with the legal issues left unresolved by the High Court decision
in Mabo there remain several areas that have not been addressed, namely: whether
leases with reservation of rights in favour of Aboriginal communities extinguish
native title; how to value the special relationship that Aboriginal people have for
their land; whether the Aboriginal community's customary rules would allow
transferability of title or whether commercial development of traditional lands
would be permitted, and the precise content and nature of Aboriginal title; and the
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nature of the traditional connection which needs to be proved.” Read about land
rights issues in the Australian Press in the articles provided.

However, land was not the only concern of Aboriginal people.

7 M.A. Stephenson (ed.), Mabo: the Native Title Legislation: A Legislative response to the High Court's

Decision, University of Queensland Press, (St. Lucia, QLD, 1995), p. xx.



shame’ on land rights

By BILL PHEASANT
and TAN HOWARTH

In a landmark ruling the High
Court yesterday extinguished
terra nullius — the doctrine
that Australia could be
regarded as uninhabited
before colonisation — in one
of the most important deci-
sions in the history ol Aborigi-
nal land rights.

In its judgement in a case
which began in 1982, the High
Court ruled that the colonisa-
tion of Australia had not
afTected the continuing own-
ership of the Murray Islands
in the Torres Strait by its
indigenous inhabitants.

As a legal precedent it may,
in effect, amount to a common
law declaration of national
Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander land rights.

The Australian Mining
Industry Council said the
High Court ruling in the
Murray- Islands land claim
case may have some implica-
tions for the resources indus-
try but it did not a expect
dramatic impact.

However, AMIC assistant
director, Mr Geoffrey Ewing,
said yesterday the High Court
ruling clearly distinguished
the difference between Crown
sovereignty over land and
ownership of title to that land.

Aboriginal groups wel-

comed the decision and the
Federal Minister for Aborigi-
nal and Torres Strait Islander
Affairs, Mr Robert Tickner,
said “the High Court has
finally put paid to the notion
of terra nullius™.

He referred to parts of the
judgement of Justices Deane
and Gaudron who described
the events involving the
removal of Aboriginal people
from their land “the darkest
aspect of the history of this
nation".

The two judges, in a
detailed section on the dispos-
session of the original inhabit-
ants, refer to an incident in
1804 on the Hawkesbury
River, which “illustrates the
first stages of the conflagra-
tion of oppression and con-
flict which was, over the
following century, to spread
across the continent to dispos-
sess, degrade and devastate
the Aboriginal peoples and
leave a national legacy of
unutterable shame™.

The High Court's decision,
by a majority of six to one,
reversed a ruling in the last
significant land rights case in
Gove in 1971 which con-
cluded that political sover-
eignty and ultimate title to all
land in Australia vested in the
first British representative of

the King, Governor Phillip. *

The ramifications of the
218-page judgement, with four
separate judgements, will take
some time to unravel. How-
ever, it may provide the basis
for a common law right of
communal title to Aboriginal
people in the rest of Australia
based not on British principles
of “title in fee simple” but
based on the traditional laws
and customs of the indigenous
people themselves.

It is possible that the High
Court decision means that
Aboriginal people with an
historical link to an area of
unclaimed Crown land will be
given the right to obtain a
court declaration of their
common law title to the land.

The High Court has made it
clear that such declarations
would not affect freehold title
to land — encompassing most
urban and pastoral land — as
the Commonwealth has the
right to legislate in respect of
land titles.

But the potential impact of
the decision on existing or
future mining arrangements
on Crown or Aboriginal land
is yet to be determined. -

The judgement could give
Aboriginal people in Western
Australia a significant advan-
tage as thére is no existing
Land Rights Act in that State.

The case, called Eddie

Mabo v The State of Queens-
‘land,involved a claim for land
title by a group of Torres
Strait Islanders, known as the
Meriam people, who live on
the islands of Mer, Dauer and
Waier north-east of Cape
York — the Murray Islands.

The Full High Court's final
order declared *...that the
Meriam people are entitled as
against the whole world to
possession, occupation use
and enjoyment of the lands of
the Murrray Islands”.

The chairman of the Coun-
cil for Aboriginal Reconcilia-
tion, Mr Pat Dodson, said last
night the decision should not
strike “panic” in the minds of
Australians on the way land
was held by normal title.

The AMIC's Mr Ewing said
the judgement may provide
some encouragement for tra-
ditional owners to pursue new
land claims but he added that
anything which increased the

restrictions imposed in the
mining industry in access to
land for exploration was an
undesirable development.
The chairman of the North-
ern Land Council, Mr Galar-
rrwuy Yunupingu, called on
the Federal Government to
negotiate a treaty and imple-
ment national land.rights
legislation or face a barrage of
litigation under the decision.
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‘Court removes a blot on the judicial !andsc;pe

Ruling a moral bu

not le gal advance

By JACX WATERFORD

Yesterday's High Court
Australian-settiement ruling
is a famous victory for Ab—
ongines, removing a solemn
blot and insult on the judi-
cial landscape. Whether,
however, it provides much
scope for the legal develop-
ment of Abonginal land
rights or compensation
claims is very doubtful.

The High Court has abolished
an old and offensive fiction: the
notion that when British settlers
landed on these shores and
claimed them in the name of
George 111 of Britain, the Jand
was cither completely unoccu-
pied and there for the taking or
the inhabitants were of such a
low level of civilisation that
there could be said to be no pat-
tern of law or custom operating.

It has also affirmed the con.
tinuing rghts of one group

whose possession of a number of
islands in the Torres Strait has
been continuous since white set-
tlement, and over which — it
held by 6-1 majority — no Acts
by the Crown had had the effect
of depriving it of continuing
land-ownership rights.

But the pattern of reasoning
provides little comfort for most
Aborigines whose possession of
land was rudely disturbed at
some stage of settlement. It
might give Aborigines who come
from remote areas of Western
Australia some hope, but pro-
vides litle for most in NSW,
Queensland, Victoria, Tasmania
or in those settled parts of South
Australia, Western Australia or
the Northern Territory, where,
since settlement, some legisla-
tive, executive or prerogative act
had the effect of upsetting an
original title.

Nor does the judgment pro-
vide much assistance for those
for whom the primary claim has
been Aboriginal sovereignty, and
the insistence that it has never
been disturbed. The High Court
is quite clear that British sover-
eignty prevailed from scttles
ment; what it says is that this did
not wipe out the rights of Aborig-
ines until the Crown intentional-

“compensation”,
seven judges believed that Ab-
origines whose rights were dis-
turbed were entitled at law to
compensation. The hitch is that
the claim had to be made in time
and, for most, that time has long
expired. Even had these judges
been in a majority, thus, there
would have been no legal claim.

However, the concession of
an old legal right leads powerful
support to a claim for continuing
moral rights.

How did the court come to its
conclusion?

Previously, the proposition
that British common law did not
recognise Aboriginal land rights
had rested primarily on the idea
~ always known to be false —
that Australia, on British settle-
ment, was terra nullius — unoc-
cupied or vacant land.
Accordingly, once possession
was claimed on behalf of the
King, he had ultimate title and
could alienate it as he wished.

The British common law had

ised two other methods of
coming into control of land. One
had been the taking of posses-
sion of a settled colony; the other
had ‘been conquest. In either
case, the common-law assump-
tion was that although the taking
of ion meant the ultimate
title weat to the King, that did
not alter existing possession or
ownership, which continued un-
less and until disturbed by the
King.: The law of the scttled
counjry — including laws about
the ownership and control of
land" — continued in force at
least to the extent that they were
not in conflict with the applica-
ble British common law or until
it was specifically extinguished
by later laws or executive Acts.

Six judges held that the old
fiction of terra nullius was not
and had never been the basis of
white settlement. At the time the
King took possession, the Ab-
original and Islander groups had
rules and customs dealing with

the possession, or ownership of,
and rights over land, and accord-
ing 1o the court these rights con-
tinued at least until they came
into conflict with lawful execut-
ive acts of the King.

All the judges agreed that the
King, in the exercise of sover-
cignty he had assumed, could ex-
tinguish Aboriginal ownership,
although they said that since do-
ing so had the effect of depriving
people of rights, the act of doing
50 had to be clear and unambigu-
ous. In this particular case, the
mere making of the Murray Is-
lands a “reserve” did not operate
to deprive the inhabitants of a
continuing title, since it was not
necessarily  inconsistent  with
continuing recognition of their
rights. On the other hand, giving
a land grant to a group of mis-
sionaries was inconsistent with
the recognition of continuing
ownership. Once title had been
extinguished, it could not be re-
sumed by Aborigines.

All six judges in the majority
agreed about the foregoing pro-
positions. The effect is 1o severe-
ly limit the possible impact of
the decision 1n fuelling Aborigi-
nal land-rights claims, except
possibly in remote areas of WA
— where, it could be argued, the
making of reserves and national
parks have not necessarily extin-
guished rights.

As Justice Brennan put it, as
the Governments of the various
colonies and, more recently, the
Commonwealth, the states and
termitories have alienated or ap-
propriated to their own purposes
most of the land in this country,
the Aboriginal peoples have been
substantially dispossessed  of
their traditional lands.

“They were dispossessed by
the Crown's exercise of its sover-:
eign powers to grant land to
whom it chose and to appropni-
ate 10 itself the beneficial owner-
ship of parcels of land for the
Crown's purposes. Aboriginal
rights and interests were not
siripped away by operation of
the common law on first settle-
ment by British colonists, but by

the exercise of a sovereign au-
thority over land exercised re-
currently by governments.

“To treat the dispossession of
the Australian Aborigines as the
working out of the Crown's ac-
quisition of all land on first set-
tlement is contrary to history.
Aborigines were dispossessed of
their Jand parcel by parcel, 10
make way for expanding colonial
settlement. Their dispossession
underwrote the development of
the nation,” he said.

The six judges divided over
the impact of the Crown's extin-
guishing ownership.

According to three of the
judges, Justices Deane, Gaudron
and Toohey, extinguishing gave
rights to compensation, at least
provided claims are made within
relevant time periods. For most
Aborigines, such periods have al-
most certainly expired, but the
nod to even an extinguished /e
gal claim is very powerful sup-
port to a continuing moral claim.

But the other three judges dis-
agreed, and on this point they
were joined by Justice Darry]
Dawson, the sole judge of the
Court to hold, in effect, that any
Aboriginal title had been extin-
guished on white settlement.

The majority view is thus that
there is no and was never any
legal right to compensation.

The decision underlines the
tenuous nature of Aboriginal
claims based on law alone. The
law, we discover (since this had
been denied by every court until
now) has always recognised that
Aborigines had title to their land.
When the first squatters pushed
beyond the bounds of settle-
ment, it was open to any Aborigi-
ne whose rights were affected to
20 1o the NSW Supreme Court
for a writ to say he or she had
better title to the land.

The moment, however, a
Governor recognised the squat-
ter by a land grany, the Aborigi-
nal title was automatically
extinguished and — according
1o a majority of the High Count
— without any right of compen-
sation. It's a moral victory,and a
moral advance, but does not take
the law much further.

Editorial. — Page &



Aboriginal justice:
politics not law

HE HIGH Cowrt of Asstralia

injustice to Aboripinal Australians,
1t did 30 in two ways: by discovering
one of the few possible groups of
original Australians who could be
said 10 have a continuous pattern of
use and control of land, almost
compietely undisturbed (in any legal
sense) by white settlement, and

affirming that these people did own™

their land in law; and by removing
from 200 years of Australian judicial
reasoning the false and offensive
doctrine that Australia, at the time of
British settlement, was either an
empty land there for the taking or,
alternatively, was a barbarian nation
subject to no law or custom capable
of being recognised and dealt with by
the courts.

Rather it admitted — for the first
time in Australian common law
jurisprudence — that Aboriginal
Australians had a civilisation, laws,
traditions and customs, including
those governing the ownership and
control of land. It also said, for what
it turns out 10 be worth, that those
rights over land had continued after
white settlement.’ The qualification
is necessary because the court went
on 1o hold that those rights were
extinguished once the Crown dealt
with land in a way that was
inconsistent with the idea of
continuing Aboriginal ownership or
control. On settlement, thé root title
of all Australian land went to the
King. But the King, six of the seven
judges held, could hold that base title
without detracting from the
continuing rights of the Aborigines;
until, through his servants, there was
a clear intention 10 take it away, any
conlinuing rights persisted.

HE problem for Abotigines is
that, for almost all of them,

there since have been clear acts (by .

govemors, government departments
or legislatures) which have taken
their lands out of their control and,
thus, have extinguished their rights.
Only in the most remote areas is
there any land - capable of being
claimed under the High Court’s rule,
In most of such  land, except,
possibly, in the central desert areas of
Western Australia, there is existing
land rights legislation which has
vested ownership in Aborigines. In
most of the rest of Australia,
however, the decision gives no legal
basis for a land claim,

Nor, by a majority of four to three,
doces the ruling give rise to a right to

compensation. Even the three who -

would acknowledge such a right
recognised that it would have had to
have been pursued - within a
limitation period long since expired.
The court's canvassing the existence
of such a right,-however, helps give

e 10 a powerfal monl daim oa
behatl of Aborgines that they have
never been compensated adequately
for their rude and ofien violent
dispossession from their land.

The decision, however, gives no
help 10 those who would base a claim
on any idea of a continuing
Aboriginal sovereignty. The court
declared  unequivocally  that
sovereignty passed to the King on
British settlement: what it allowed
was that that passage of sovereignty
did not extinguish all existing
Aboriginal rights.

AD SUCH a decision been

handed down in, say, 1846 —
on the first occasion in which a NSW
Court proclaimed and enforced the
terra nullius doctrine — the history
of Australian settlement might have
been quite different. It almost
certainly would have led to
treaty-style arrangements of the sort
that the original inhabitants of
America, Canada and New Zcaland
were able to make (by war rather
than mutual benevolence) with
settlers. Now, however, the decision
has little legal impact, except for the
few who might be able to fit within
its confines,

Aborigines do have a claim for
compensation for the effects of
dispossession. Essentially, however,
the claim must be regarded as a

moral rather than a legal one (atleast - -

a legal one founded in common law).
Much Aboriginal political energy,
and money, has been spent in
generally fruitless attempts to seek
some form of legal vindication of the

rights of Aborigines — whether ¢

continuing ones over land, claims of

unextinguished sovereignty, or for .
various forms of compensation. In

modern times, these claims have
received sympathetic hearings from

the courts, not least the High Court; -

progressively, many of the more
offensive and incquitable concepts of
old have fallen.

But those who believe that a little
more chipping away will open the
floodgates for Aboriginal justice are
almost certainly deluded. One of the
High Court’'s champions of
Aboriginal rights, Justice Gerry
Brennan, commented in yesterday's
decision that the common law may

move with the times, and adopt |
contemporary notions of justice and .

human rights, but it will not
“fracture the skeleton of principle”
which gives the law its shape and
consistency. The common law, so far
as Aborigines are concerned, is too
rooted in the injustices of the past to

ever be the vehicle for Aboriginal |
liberation. If new laws are desirable,

and they are, they must be found in
community education, politics and
parliament.
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By WENDY PRYER and
STEVE MANCHEE

CANBERRA: A High Court
deciston yvesterday  has
serapped the concept of a “des-
erted land™ which legitimused
the colonisation of Austrahia,

The decision, which rcc(xgﬁﬁcd
the Tand rights of a group of Tor-
res Strait Islanders to the Murray
Islands, meant the original basis
for European claims to Australia,
known as terra nullius, was dead,
said Northern Land Council
chairman Galarrwuy Yunupingu.

He said the Federal Govern-
ment would face a barrage of liti-
gation unless it quickly negoti-
ated a treaty with Aborigines and
passed land rights lcgislation.

Greg Mclntrye, the former

principal legal officer for the

Aboriginal Legal Service in WA,
said the ruling could have a big
impact on WA claims.

In Quecensiand in 1982, Mr
Mcintyre lodged the orlgmal
claim by clders Eddie Mabo,
David Passi and James Ricc over
the Murray Islands, the eastern-
most Torres Strait Islands off the
north-eastern tip of Queensland.

Although the High Court ruled

Mr Mabo

its six-on¢ decision did not set a

precedent, Mr Mclntyre said it
meant Aborigines would have a
better chance of winning land-
rights cases if they could prove
links and rights to the land.

The High Court found Austra-
lia’s common law recognised a
form of native title which
reflected the rights of indigenous
inhabitants, .

“The common law. of this
country would perpetuate injus-
tice if it werc to continue to

cmbrace the cnlarged notion of

terra nullius.and to persist in
characterising the indigenous
inhabitants of the Australian col-
onies as pcople too low in the

scale of social organisation to be
acknowledged as posscssmg
rights and interests in land,” said
Justice Brennan,

Justices Deane and Gaudron
said the doctrine of terra nullius
was “the darkest aspect of the
history of this nation™,

The court said its judgment
only applied 1o the Murray
Islands and it remained to be
seen whether it could be used as
a precedent for other land claims.

The decision ended a 10-year
battle for the Mceriam people who
claimed their rights 10 the islands
were never extinguished despite
British settlement and Qucens-
land’s anncxation in 1879.

Mr Mabo, the main litigant,
was born on Murray Island. the
biggest of the three islands. but
died of cancer in January.

Mr Mclntyre believed it would
mean Aboriginal pcople would
no longer have 1o wage lcgal wars
about their centitlement to land
and could spend more time prov-
ing claims to particular tracts.

The decision was important
for Kimbericy Aborigines who
launched a High Court id to
claim 20,000ha in the Mitchell
Plateau, Drysdale River national

park and the coastline from
Derby to Kalumburu last year.

He said the claim by the WA
Wunambul, Ngarinyin and
Worora pcople had a good
chance because it was based on
the same arguments as the Mabo
casc.

The Aboriginal claim for the
old Swan brewery land must be
looked at closcly because,
although the WA Qovernment
granted it to builders, il was
revested with the crown.

Federal Aboriginal Affairs
Minister Robert Tickner wel-
comed the decision, saying it put
Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal
Australians on an equal footing
10 negotiate reconciliation for the
first time in 200 years.

“The High Court has finally
put paid to the notion of terra
nullius which asserted that the
land was desert and unoccupied
and by wh:ch the dispossession
and oppression of the mdngenous
pcoplc of this country was justi-
fied,™ he said.

State Aboriginal AfTairs Minis-
ter Judyth Watson said the
impact on WA would not be
known until the decision was
analysed.

® News Extra, page 11

Ruling boosts blacks’ land claims

This had been ruled invalidina
majority tull High Court decision
on the ground that it was inconsis-
tent with federal racial-discrimi-
nation legistation.

And lawyers {nvolved in Abori-
ginal land-rights claims and other
legal cases were clearly delighted
with the reasoning of Mr Justice
Brennan — with which the Chief
Justice, Mr Justice Mason, and
Mr Justice McHugh said they
agreed — and that of Justice
Gaudron and Mr Justice Deane.
They sald the judgments con-
talned Invaluable ammunition for
future battles,

On terra nulmfa. Mr Justice
Breanan said: “If it were permis-
sible In past centuries to keep the

jaw netther be, 3or de seen 0 be,

FROM PAGE ONE "

frozen in an age of racial dis-
crimination.

“The fictlon by which the rights
and interests of indigenous inhab-
itants in land were treated as non-
existent was justified by a policy
which has no place in the contem-
porary common law of this coun-
fry.

Mr Justice Brennan also made
important observations on how
indigenous peoples’ links with the

- ———1and should be viewed. Under the

landmark Northern Territory
land-rights legislation, Aboriginal
groups have to demonstrate con-
mnnam traditional links with the

Mr Justice Breansa seid: ~Of
course, ia time, the laws and cus-

toms of any people will change
and the rights and interests of the
members of the people among
themselves will change, too.”

He said it was immaterial that
the laws and customs had under-
gone some change since the
Crown acquired sovereignty, pro-
vided the general connection
between the indigencus people
and the land remained.

Mr Justice Brennan indicated a
wider application of his rulings:
“Nor can the circumstances

which might be thought to differ- -

entiate the Murray Islands from
other parts of Australla be
invoked as an acceptadle ground

for distinguishing the entitiement

of the Meriam people from the



Key ruling
boosts =
blacks’

land claims

By CAMERON FORBES,
Canberra

A full High Court judgment in a

legal battle by the people of tiny

.Murray Island In the Torres Strait

Is being hailed as being of sweep-

Ing significance for Australia’s:
indigenous people and the death of

the concept of terra nullius — that

Australia was no one’s land when

Europeans arrived.

In a 81 majority declslon on
what has become known as the
Mabo case, the full High Court
found that Australian common law
recognised a form of native tille
and declared that “the Mertam

o e TSRS ving
X% MURRAY 15, o
¥ g

‘people are entitled as against the— The chalrman of the Northern

whole world to possession, occupa-
tlons use and enjoyment of the
lands of the Murray Islands”.:

' Lawyers Involved in the Murray
Island case say that the judgments
as a whole have profound implica-
tions for present land-rights legis-
lation, the process of reconcilia-
tion with Aborigines and Torres
Strait Islanders, land claims by
traditional Aboriginal communi-
ties, and relations between Aborig-
ines and miners.

—Two"of the judges, in-language—
they sald might be thought “unusu-
ally emotlve' for the court,
described a process of disposses-
sion, degradation and devastation
of the Aboriginal people that lefta
national legacy of unutterable
shame, .

“_ Justice Mary Gaudron and Mr
Justice Deane said: “The acts and
events by which that dispossession
In legal theory has carried into
practical effect constitute the
darkest aspect of the history of
thls nation. The nation as a whole
must remain diminished unless
and untll there is an acknowledge-
ment of, and retreat from, those
!njustlccs."

The federal Minister for Abori-
ginal Affairs, Mr Tickner, sald:
“History was made in the High
Court today. The highest court in
the land has taken the position
that terra nullius is to be rejected
f:d relegated to the dustbin of his-

ry.”

Mr Tickner wes guarded sbout

the ‘consequences. A battery of

lawyers was considering the judg-
ment, he sald, but in the short
term he could dismiss as unfound-
ed alarmist specutstion about

Land Council, Mr Galarrwuy Yun-
upingu, said “the pathetic excuse
of terra nulllus is now dead” and
called on the Federal Government
to move quickly to negotiate a
treaty and implement comprehen-
sive land rights legislation or face
a barrage of litigation.

On Murray Island, Lillian Passi,
the first to hear, cried: “Thank
God, thank God.” The islanders
immediately started preparing a
victory feast.

—__And_a _Torres_Strait leader, Mr_

George Mye, of nelghboring Darn-
ley Island, who I3 the Aboriginal
and Torres Stralt Islander Com-

mission representative for the :
region, sald that all islanders
would now move for recognition of |
their traditional ownership of |

thelr lands.

“I'm overjoyed,” Mr Mye said. |
“We want to be part of Australla, |

but we want autonomy.”

The court pointed out that its

formal order was cast in a form
“which will not glve rise to any
possible Implication affecting

status of land” not considered in ,

the case, :

It also declared that the Meflam

people’s title could be extin-
guished by Queensland by a valid
exercise of power, provided that
this was not Inconsistent with the
laws of the Commonwealth,
However, lawyers for the Mur-
ray Islanders pointed out that in
1985 the Queensland Government
had pessed legisiation expressly
extinguishing all native rights to
the Torres Strait isiands, retro-
spectively to 1879,
Continued: PAGE ¢
PAGE 13 EdiMorat; A victory over
white srrogence.
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‘Mabo decision a
victory over
white arrogance

— e
IS winter in Torres Strait, 1
which means burnisned sky, 5 107941 1698 DoLth D e |
lurquoise sea, the gentie lslanderse yesterday
wash of waves and the the High Court ruled that their
nludy tlhylh:tinol'll:; tides —the  rights 1o the land had not been
pleasant pattern of the centuries. i
But yesterday word came from extinguished by white

chill, land-locked Canberra 1o Colonisation. CAMERON
Murray Island, the most easterly FORBES reports on the
of the Strait group, which changes background 1o the case.

everything. And nothing.

Ten years ago, flve Murray
Islanders set off on a legal mara-
thon, challenging the Queensiand
Government adminlstration, offl-
clal white history and a doctrine
regarded by Austraila’'s indige-
nous people as the encapsulation
of white arrogance: this land —
Lhe:';‘e':"d';:n"émf:“'“‘e"”y tively banished from their land

Peans 8r+ (e white-perceived misbehavior,
,”"f:‘ 10 be terra nullius, RO 0BE'S 010" rwaliowed by & powertul
an.

The case came to carry the and at times brutal soclety then
hopes of those who felt that a 'CI83ted toIts margins.
landmark decision on land rights,

But they have to live with and
struggle against the effects of |
more than a century of colonial- |
ism, paternalism and, at times,

--exploitation: belng ruled, being
used as cheap (lo say the least)
labor on the luggers, being effec- |

by Mr Justice Blackburn In the HER: are 'b‘l"“l: 4:0 m": !
Northern Territory Supreme on “"'Iy “'l', —I’"

Court In 1871, compounded a perhaps aimost three limes
searing historic Injustice. (hat number llving on the Austra-

Mr Justice Black s llan mainland. Paradise may
mised s claion by Inres Abarigin. $6€m 8 fine place, but It can be
al brothers from Gove Peninsuta  SMfICull to live there. i
that their land had been unlawful.  There 18 not room enough. or
ly invaded by miners and by the {003 enough, for all Murray
Commonwesaith Government, "1t islanders. Some fish or gather tro-
Is dangerous,”” he sald, “lo chus shell, bul many exist on

1o express a matter so unemployment benelits. Young
subtle and difficult by a mere [€€0agers play an interminable
legal aphorism, bul it seems easi. S53Me of touch football on the one,
¢r on (he evidence to say (hat (he 1800y streel. They are lost
clan belonga 1o he land than that  Detween school and meaningful |
ine land delongs to the clan.”  WOrk. They can also be lost

The Full Bench of the High between their iraditional culture
Court yesterday dellvered |udg- and the wider Australlan world
ment on tate! t of claim On Sunday one of the plaintiffs
which begins: “Since time imme. !0 the High Court case. Fatner
morial, the Torres Strait islands David Passi, will deliver his ser-
of Mer (known as Murray) Dawar MO0 In his neat church by (he sea
and Waler and their surrounding 1! *!ll be an occaslon for celebra-
seas, seabeds, (ringing reefs and  ['ON. Of course, but also for pont- |
adjacent lslets by people called ing out soclal and economic plntf |
the Meriam peaple ... " lems which cloud the lsland’s

What s known In legal short. Present and future. All the
Nand as the Mabo case (afier |earned words of learned judges
Eddle Mabo, the first plalntifry !l not blow them nway.
has washed against various reefs, e will 4130 speak of the part
followed meandering channets 0d the spiritusl life of Murray
and survived an ali-out Bjelke- Island. He will speak of Malo, the
Petersen Government attempt to Man-octopus god. When Mr Jus
sink It tice Moynihan, of the Queenstand
| Supreme Court, was making

delerminations of fact about the

MELBOURNE barrister Muyrray Island case. on the

Involved In the case, Mr |nstructions of the High Court,

Ron Castan, QC, has sald  Malo did not fare very well.

litigation of this sort has been Mr Justice Moynthan acknow-
described as an awesome Crea- |eged the past power of the cull
ture, mounted at gigantic cost. (which did lead lo some unfortu-

But for the Meriam people, It IS pate excess, such as head-hunt-

simple: Murray Isiand was thelr |ng) but said: “The London Mls-
ancestors’ land, is theirs and will  gionary Society moved swiftly to
be their children’s. Neither the gyppress (It), ultimately success-
white man's coming nor anything  fylly, aithough the probabllity Is
that the white man has done has  (naf the cult continued In a cian-
<changed that. destine way for some years, Rem-
Yesterday the Full Bench of nants remaln in the memory of
the High Court, In & six-one major- (he people.”
Ity decision, went a great way 1o Of Father Passi, Mr Justice
upholding the people’'s claim, Moynihan sald: “I accept him as
declaring that ‘‘the Meriam an essentlally honest witness
people are entitled as against the  although he has a somewhat idlo-
whole world, to possession, occu-  gyncralic view of some lsgues, not
pation, use and enjoyment of the  the least being the Malo story and
‘Jandl of the Murray Islands”. It  Christianlty, and s propensity for
went on o declare that their title  selective reconstruction —
to land was subject to the power although no doubt he is persuad-
of the Queensland Parllament ed by the truth of his vision."
and Government to extinguish It That Father Passi Is. He
by valld exercise of power “pro- remalns unrepentant. He main-
vided any exercise of those pow- tains that the Malo tradition pre-
ers Is not Inconsistent with the pared the way for Christianity
laws of the Commonwealth”, and he pays due respect lo the
Murray Islanders will be happy  Malo myth as providing the basls
with this proviso. During the long.  for the land-holding structure on
long legal battle, the Queenstand  Murray Isiand and the attitude of
Government passed legislation  Murray Islanders to one another's
expressly extinguishing all native  property. The first among Malo's
—Tights to the Torres Strait Islands —commandments was that people
retrospectively to 1879. In 1887 should keep their hands and legs
the Full High Court, by a majority  from other people's land — not to
declsion, ruled this Invalld under trespass.
the Federal Raclal Discrimina- ¢
tion Act. NE OF his major worries Is
As for terra nulllus, it came that young Murray Island-
under vigorous attack, Mr Justice ers are drifting Into a spir-
Brennan wrote: “The common itual terra nullius, “We have
law of this country would perpet- formed a councli of elders. We
uate injustice If It were lo contin-  want to revive the values of ours,
ue to embrace the enlarged no- to Interpret them and to put them
tlon of terra nulllus and to persist into a relevant, modern context.”
In characterising the Indigenous The High Court victory will
Inhabltants of the Australlan colo-  work Its own miracie on the pride
nles as people too low inthe scale and self-esteem of the Murray
of social organisation to be Island people. For them it may
acknowledged as possessing help In the process advocated by
rights and Interests in land”. the national commissioner, Mr
The news Is being greeted on  Elliott Johnston, at the conclusion
. Murray Island with a mixture of of the Royal Commission on
excitement and satisfaction and  Aboriginal Deaths ln Custody:
lingering anger. A battle which “The thrust of this report is that
_should never have had to be the elimination of disadvantage
fought has been won; rights which requires an end of domination
‘should never have been ques- and an empowerment of Abori-
“toned have been upheld. ™ "7 ginal people: that control of thelr

It has been a great victory for lives, of thelr communities, must
the Murray Islanders. Legally the be returned to Aboriginal hands.”
clock has been turned back to The sad footnote is that Eddie
1879, when Queensiand annexed Mabo, the originating force for
the Torres Stralt islands, and the claim, dled in February of
those words of Captain Bligh in cancer. He was 52. For a great
1792, when he took possession of part of his life, he learned first-
“all the Islands In the stralt for hand the lessons of poweriessness
Ris Britannic Majesty, George but refused to be crusbed. The
111" have beea negated. Judgment is his monumenL




Long road to win
back the land

HERE has always been
intense interest. .in_ the .

“Aboriginal question™ but
few pecople really know how
Aborigines came lo lose Aus-
tralia.

Yesterday's High Court decision
recognising the traditional land
rights of the Murray Islanders in
the castern Torres Strait has
focused attention on the concept of
“terra nullius™, in which Bntain
refused 10 recognise in law that
Abongines had prior occupation of
Australia,

This partly

. exﬁlnins how
Aborigines were

unted and

slaughtered and many others

herded into camps and locked
away like animals, although such
activity really cannot be fully
explained.

The only possible explanation is’

to say that things were different
then, which is no excuse at all for
the tragedy that is Aboriginal
Australia.

In 1982, Eddic Mabo, David
Passi and James Rice — three
clders from Murray Island —
brought an action in the High
Cournt secking to prevent Queens-
land’s Bjclke-Petersen Government
from making the island a native
reserve on the grounds that this
would deprive the occupants of
traditional ownership rights which
had not been extinguished.

The Mabo case was designed to
test a 1971 decision of the North-
ern Territory Supreme Court in
Milirrpum v. Nabalco and the
Commonwealth, in which a judge
ruled that Aboriginal systems of
law did not contain notions of
property recognisable by the
Anglo-Australian legal system,

The Bjelke-Petersen Govern-
ment reacted to the Mabo case by”
passing legislation to abolish all
rights and interests of Murray
Islanders — a move declared by
the High Court in 1985 1o be

nt with Com alth
racial discrimination laws.,

Eddie Mabo, now assured of his
place in history, was born on Mur-
ray lsland in 1936 and in accor-
dance with island tradition was
adopted by an island family, even
though his parents lived together
on the island.

He left for the mainland in his
late teens and did not return for 18
g;:nu because local authorities

nned him from coming back,
fearing he had been radicalised.

He held fast 1o his Murray
Island, or Meriam, identity and
lcarnt as much as he could about
the region by talking (o islanders
and studying books.

_ yesterday after the High
Court recognised their
traditional land rights.

0O The Meriam people of the 0O ED SOUTHORN reports that
Murray Islands in the Torres the only sad factor about the
Strait were celebrating decision was that Eddie

Mabo, who helped start the
claim 10 years ago, died from
cancer earlier this year,

During the 1970s he was active
in Aboriginal and Islander affairs
in Townsville, where he lived with
his wife, Netta, and their children,

He was the prime mover behind
the establishment of a black com-
munity school in Townsville and
helped manage it until government
funds were withdrawn and the
school closed,

He completed a teacher training
course in Townsville and eventu-
ally returned to the island in 1981,
where he persuaded the others 1o
join him in going to the High
Count,

By 1987, the legal partics to the
Mabo case were unable to come to
an agreed statement of facts and
the matter was remitted to the
Queensland Supreme Court for a
determination.

The Supreme Court’s Justice
Moynihan delivered his ﬁndinl;;s in
1989, which were used by the High
Court in deciding questions of law.

The Supreme Court findings
included that the Murray Islanders
had in the past lived and con-
tinued to live on the island in vil-
lages, make gardens there, fish in
adjacent waters, recognisc places
on the island associated with
myths, carry on religious life, trade
and commerce and that their nced
for land was a continuing impera-
tive.

The amazing thing about the
Mabo casc is that it was kicked
around by lawyers and judges for
10 years without anyonc finding a
strong cnough rcason o throw it
out of court,

Even Mabo's death from cancer
in a Brisbanc hospital this year did
not stop the case rolling on.
Clcarly, 1t was an issuc whosc time
had come, although many will
arguc that it is much too latec now
10 be trying to right the wrongs of
the past.

Ironically, it was the Privy
Council which sounded the. death

knell for Aboriginal land rights in
1889. '

Long before then. representa-
tives of the British crown in Aus-
tralia_had acknowledged Aborigi-
nal rights but the Privy Council
decided that Australia in 1788 had
“consisted of a tract of territory
practically unoccupied, without
sctiled inhabitants or scttled law.”

HIS extraordinary claim
ignored many things, includ-
ing a letter in 1807 by Gover-

nor King 1o his successor, Bligh, in
which King wrote that he had not
been prepared to force Aborigines
to work.

1 have considered them the real
proprictors of the soil.™ he wrote.

An Aboriginal historian, Profes-
sor Henry Reynolds. of the James
Cook University at Townsville,
whose book “The Law of the
Land™ cxamines these matters in
detail, says the colonial courts
failed to protect Aboriginal rights
which had been recognised by the
carly administrators and colonists.

1t has been alleged that Queens-
land Premicr Wayne Goss rushed
through the State’s land rights leg-
islation because he feared a favour-
able decision from the Mabo casc
could somechow dictate the tone of
the State legislation.

Mr Goss has consistently denied |
this and another school of thought
is that a call by the State Aborigi-
nal and Islander Afairs Depart-
ment for all crown land in the
Great Sandy Region ta be given 1o
Aborigines may have sct olf alarm
bells 1n the Premier’s oftice.

This departmental call was made
1o the Fitzgerald inquiry into Fra-
ser Island. forcing the “Aboriginal
and Islander Affairs Minister,
Anne Warner, to distance herself
publicly from her department.

Ms Warner's exclusion from
playing a big role in the prepara-
tion o%lhc Cguccnslnnd land rights |
Icgislation is well known, cven
though she was well qualified to
contribute.

4
Queensland Aborigines feel that
the State's lands rights legislation
has -not delivered what the Goss
Government promised and now,
afier the High Court decision on

the Mabo case, the State Govern-
ment will be undcrhigrcsspm to re-
£33mingG . ils  obligation

Pismine, Jo _oblistons 9
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The Stolen Generation

[The following is based on Coral Edwards & Peter Read (eds.) The Lost Children,
Doubleday, (Sydney, 1989)].

In Australia today there may be one hundred thousand people of Aboriginal
descent who do not know their families or communities. They are the people, or
the descendants of people, who were removed from their families by a variety of
white people for a variety of reasons. They do not know where they came from; so
do not even know they are of Aboriginal descent. Black children were raised by
white people, some with love and some without love. As they grew up, they were
expected to think white, to act white, and in the end to be white. These children
are united by a common bond that, in doing so, began to find a new personality,
identity and culture. The removal of Aboriginal children from their parents has
been a policy in all states at different times. In New South Wales, the
Cootamundra Home for Aboriginal Girls and Kinchela Home for Aboriginal Boys
are the best known of several institutions. The Colebrook Home in South
Australia and the "Half-caste Institution" in Alice Springs were similar institutions
specifically designed to raise and socialise Aboriginal children.

Probably the origin of the practice of separating black children from their
parents lay in the desire to turn them into "useful" citizens. The earliest Aboriginal
institutions in Australia, where parents were at first allowed to live nearby, were
set up to teach the Anglican virtues of obedience, punctuality, thriftiness and hard
work. Below is the schedule for the institution in Blacktown near Sydney in 1827,
which, though not excessive for those days of workhouse and poor relief,
indicates that what missionaries wanted was a new generation of willing workers:

Schedule

1. To be up and dressed by 6 am and go to work.

2. To wash themselves, at half past 7 am go to prayers and breakfast at 8.

3. To work till 10 am.

4. To wash and go to school from 10am to 12 pm, write one copy, read half and
hour, cypher 1 hour.

5. To dine at quarter after 12 and play till 1pm.

6. To school at 1pm, read and cypher till 2 pm.

7. To work from 2 till 6pm, the boys at carpentering the girls at sewing and
knitting.

8. To play and wash and ready for supper at 7pm.

9. To prayers at half past 7 and to be in bed at 8pm.

This was the positive side of the missionaries' work. They wanted to create an
Aboriginal working class and present it to those whites of the colony who thought
Aborigines were little better than animals. "Useful" work demonstrated, so they
thought, that Aborigines were capable of "civilisation". Like concerning most
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institutions of the time, we know more about how the Blacktown institution
started than how it finished, but it is likely that since the parents were allowed to
see their children from time to time and the instructors were not unkind, a few
children learned to sew or build.

But there was also a negative side which hardened when the missionaries
were confronted by parents who wished to take their children away from the
schools. The missionaries' answer was to separate the children, usually by trickery
or force. Parents who allowed their children to go to the dormitory were allowed
access to them only irregularly or never. By 1850 all the half-dozen missions
which had come and gone in eastern Australia had, at one time or another, tried to
raise Aboriginal children separated from their parents. They pursued the policy so
hard that in some cases the black populations living at or near the missions simply
went away. In 1838 at Wellington, in midwestern New South Wales, there was an
ugly scene in which a missionary and two constables chased woman screaming
and clutching her baby, into another missionary's house, then seized the child and
took her off to the infants' dormitory. Next day the whole Aboriginal camp left
and the work of the Wellington missionaries was never the same again. We know
no more about most of the children of these institutions than their names and
whether they physically survived the trauma of separation.

The separation of Aboriginal children from their families, therefore, was not
an invention of the twentieth century, although its scale before this was modest.
Probably by 1850 no more than 300 children had been separated and raised as
white as a matter of formal policy. Whatever the effect on the children and the
parents involved, enforced separation in the nineteenth century was not the
catastrophe to Aboriginal civilisation that it was in the twentieth. For the first
hundred years after the invasion the missionaries maintained that black children
could be brought to the same level as white labourers and maids if they were
trained properly, and the doubters maintained that it was best to let the Aboriginal
population die out of its own accord. But most of the children stayed at home.

The turning point that divides the first hundred years of white settlement from
the second, and the mostly humanitarian motivations of child separation from the
mostly political, was this very question of Aboriginal population. The whites
began to realise that the blacks, after all, were not dying out as they had expected.
It is probable that the part-Aboriginal population - that is, the people of part-white
descent who lived with and identified as Aborigines - began to increase after
1950, but because the whites were not well established in the rural regions, they
didn't notice. It was not until the 1870s and 1880s that the whites who were vocal
enough to complain to the government began to draw attention to the black
populations gathering around the newly established towns. The middle class
demanded that the government take measures to control what to them had
suddenly become an increasing rather than a decreasing problem.
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So the century of Aboriginal persecution which began with the establishment
of the Aborigines Protection Board in 1883 was in many ways the answer to the
complaints and demands of the whites who were confronted with Aborigines near
their towns. Not all the Board members were persecutors; like those who
established the early Sydney schools, their intentions were at first fairly
benevolent. But by 1900 the parameters were set. The Board reasoned that if the
Aboriginal population, characterised in some quarters as a "wild race of half-
castes", was growing, then it would somehow have to be diminished. If the
children were to be desocialised as Aborigines and resocialised as whites, they
would have to be removed from their parents.

Thus to the first rationale of separation, a hundred years old and underpinned
by the ambience of selfless missionary endeavour, was added the second, that it
was in the interests of the state, as well as of the children themselves, that they be
removed from their communities and raised as white. Child removal was seized
upon as one administrative tool of a policy of dispersal, for it was much easier to
whisk the children away into inaccessible places than to disperse a camp of a
hundred adults who had nowhere to go. By 1910 it was politically less important
that Aboriginal children become carpenters or maids. The vital purpose to the
New South Wales administration was that, whatever else the children grew up to
be, they should not be allowed to grow up as identifying Aborigines.

Little by little, child removal became a fundamental plank in the agenda of
the Aborigines Protection Board. The argument rested on the supposed "idleness
and immorality" of the reserves from which the children would somehow have to
be "protected". A long-time official of the Board told the Australian Catholic
Congress in 1909:

We have today 3,200 children growing up in our midst, three-fourths of whom
range from half-castes to almost white, with no prospects ahead of the great
majority, under the present system, but lives of idleness and vice...under the
evil influences and bad examples of the adults, they almost invariably drift
into an aimless, useless life of idleness and immorality... For adults we can
only make their track as smooth as possible - they will soon pass away; but
the children require our gravest consideration... Amongst all those who have
had large experience with the aborigines, and who take a deep interest in
their welfare, there is no difference of opinion as to the only solution of this
great problem, - the removal of the children and their complete isolation from
the influences of the camps. Under no circumstances whatever should the
boys and girls be allowed to return to the camps, except on a short visit in an
emergency, and then only by consent of the department... In the course of a
few years there will be no need for the camps and stations, the old people will



have passed away, and their progeny will be absorbed in the industrial
classes of the country.®

Two years after the passing of the 1909 Aborigines Protection Act the policy
was made clear in the Annual Report:

The Board recognises that the only chance these children have is to be taken
away from their present environment and properly trained by earnest workers
before being apprenticed out, and after having once left the aborigines’
reserves they should never be allowed to return to them permanently.

In 1916 the Act was amended so that "the Board may assume full custody and
control of the child of any aborigine, if after due enquiry it is satisfied that such a
course is in the interest of the moral or physical welfare of the child. This gave
officials the power to remove any child under any pretext, for not even a court
hearing was necessary. From that time the Board's officers were at work removing
hundreds of children - 1500 by 1934 - from camps to which they were never to
return.

By 1939 a new Child Welfare Act relating to all the state's children caused
this section of the Aborigines Protection Act to fall into disuse, even though it
remained on the books until 1969. A court hearing became the norm although it
was often a formality. But by 1940 it didn't really matter. So deeply entrenched
were negative attitudes towards Aboriginality that to the whites separation seemed
preferable to almost any divergence from the European nuclear family model. On
the missions, welfare officers had instructions to send any children light enough to
pass as white to the ordinary child welfare homes, not the Aboriginal homes,
presumably in the hope that they would never know that they were Aboriginal.

By the 1950s consideration of cost and new psychological theories which
stressed the importance of the mother-child bond began to work against the
Aboriginal Homes at Cootamundra and Kinchela. At the time when we might
have expected a reduction in the number of separations, the statistics remained
steady. The reason was the assimilation policy, officially in force throughout the
Commonwealth, stated that every Aborigine should adopt the lifestyle, habits and
thinking of white people. A baby placed with white parents would obviously be
more quickly assimilated than one placed with black parents. So ran official
thinking, but more importantly, so also ran the feelings of the majority of honest
and conscientious white citizens. The popular image of Aboriginality was a run-
down camp, devoid of truly Aboriginal culture, overrun with children and dogs.
Drunks, broken windows, dirt and disease. Even those who blamed the
government for the squalor thought it still might be best that the child, for its own

8 Quoted in Coral Edwards & Peter Read (eds.), The Lost Children, Doubleday, (Sydney, 1989), pp. xiii-

X1v.

29



30

sake, should grow up in a comfortable suburban home. Therefor Aboriginal
babies were not placed with Aboriginal foster or adopting parents, but with white.

White parents who adopted Aboriginal children were often applauded for
their public-spirited action. The attitude of such parents towards their children
covered a very wide spectrum. Some did their best, but, because of their own
mental prison about the nature of Aboriginality, it was a best that fell far short of
being good enough in their children's eyes. Some parents loved their adoptive
children as passionately as parents can. It seems that, while being loved as a child
can help to make a better balanced adult, it does not make it any easier to become
an Aboriginal adult. Nor did a loving upbringing ensure that the adult would be
shielded from being called "coon" or "boong". White society made very few
concessions to black children raised among the whites.

Whatever their attitudes, substitute parents had to accept the prevailing view
that Aboriginal children were to remain away from their community and culture
as long as possible, preferably forever. Adopting parents were told to destroy any
information they may have learned about their child's origins, so they might never
find out who they really were. To the framers of the Adoption Act the phrase
"who they were" had no meaning. The Act implied that when the original identity
ceased to exist legally, it ceased to exist actually. This legal fiction has caused
much harm to European adopters, but to Aboriginal children it has been
devastating.”

It has only been in the last decade that Australia has attempted to recognise
the pain and suffering the assimilation policy caused to many Aboriginal people.
The establishment of a national inquiry was the governmental response to
demands by Aboriginal people to have their voices heard.

Heskk

Bringing Them Home

In 1995 the National Inquiry into the separation of Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander children from their families was established by the Federal
Attorney General. It was conducted by the Human Rights and Equal Opportunity
Commission. The inquiry visited every state and territory capital and most regions
of Australia, from Cape Barren Island in the south to the Torres Strait and the
Kimberly in the north. The Inquiry took evidence in public and private sittings
from Indigenous people, government and church representatives, former mission
staff, foster and adoptive parents, doctors and health professionals, academics,
police and others. People also made written submissions. Most hearings were
conducted by HREOC President, Sir Ronald Wilson, and the Aboriginal and

9 Coral Edwards & Peter Read (eds.), The Lost Children, Doubleday, (Sydney, 1989), ibid., pp. ix-xviii.



Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner, Mick Dodson. In each region
an Indigenous commissioner was appointed to assist with the hearings. An
Indigenous Advisory Council, with representatives from every major region, also
assisted the Inquiry. A total of 777 people and organisations provided evidence or
a submission; 535 were Indigenous people who gave evidence or submissions
about their experiences of forcible removal. Most had been removed as children;
others were parents, siblings or children of removed children.

This is a summary of the recommendations of the Inquiry:

»  That the Council of Australian Governments ensure the adequate funding of
appropriate Indigenous agencies to record, preserve and administer access to the
testimonies of Indigenous people affected by the forcible removal policies who
wish to provide their histories in audio, audio-visual or written form.

» That, for the purposes of responding to the effects of forcible removals,
"compensation" be widely defined to mean "reparation"; that reparation be made
in recognition of the history of gross violations of human rights; and that the van
Boven principles guide the reparation measures.

Reparation should consist of:

1. acknowledgement and apology;
. guarantees against repetition;

. measures of restitution;

. measures of rehabilitation, and

W W

. monetary compensation.

* That reparation be made to all who suffered because of forcible removal
policies including:

1. individuals who were forcibly removed as children;

2. family members who suffered as a result of their removal

3. communities which, as a result of the forcible removal of children, suffered
cultural and community disintegration; and

4. descendants of those forcibly removed who, as a result, have been deprived
of community ties, culture and language, and links with their entitlements
to their traditional land.

* That all Australian parliaments officially acknowledge the responsibility of
their predecessors for the laws, policies and practices of forcible removal.

*  That churches and other non-government agencies which played a role in the
administration of the laws and policies under which Indigenous children were
forcibly removed acknowledge that role and in consultation with the Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander Commission make such formal apologies and
participate in such commemorations as may be determined.

31
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« That the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission, in consultation
with the Council for Aboriginal Reconciliation, arrange for a national Sorry Day
to be celebrated each year to commemorate the history of forcible removals and
its effects.

* That state and territory governments ensure that primary and secondary
schools curricula include substantial compulsory modules on the history and
continuing effect of forcible removal.

* That all professionals who work with Indigenous children, families and
communities receive in-service training about the history and effects of forcible
removal.

» That the Commonwealth legislate to implement the Genocide Convention
with full domestic effect.

 That the Council of Australian Governments ensure that appropriate
Indigenous organisations are adequately funded to employ family reunion
workers to travel with clients to their country, to provide Indigenous community
education on the history and effects of forcible removal and to develop
community genealogies to establish membership of people affected by forcible
removal.

* That monetary compensation be provided to people affected by forcible
removal under the following heads:

1. racial discrimination;

2. arbitrary deprivation of liberty;
3. pain and suffering;

4. abuse, including physical, sexual and emotional abuse;
5. disruption of family life;

6. loss of cultural rights and fulfilment;

7. lose of native title rights;

8. labour exploitation;

9. economic loss; and

10. loss of opportunity

* That the Council of Australian Governments establishes a joint national
Compensation Fund.

* That an Indigenous person who was removed from his or her family during
childhood by compulsion, duress or undue influence be entitled to a minimum
lump sum payment from the National Compensation Fund in recognition of the
fact of removal. That it be a defence to claim for the responsible government to
establish that the removal was in the best interests of the child.
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»  That no records relating to Indigenous individuals, families or communities or
to any children, Indigenous or otherwise, removed from their families for any
reason, whether held by government or non-government agencies, be destroyed.

* That the Council of Australian Governments ensure that Indigenous
community-based family tracing and reunion services are funded in all regional
centres with a significant Indigenous population and that existing Indigenous
community-based services, for example health services, in smaller centres are
funded to offer family tracing and reunion assistance and referral.

*  That every Church and other non-government agency which played a role in
the placement and care of Indigenous children forcibly removed from their
families, at the request of an Indigenous language, culture and history centre,
transfer historical and cultural information it holds relating to the community or
communities represented by the centre.

e That every Church and other non-government agency which played a role in
the placement and care of Indigenous children forcibly removed from their
families identify all records relating to Indigenous families and children and
arrange for their preservation, indexing and access in secure storage facilities
preferably, in consultation with relevant Indigenous communities and
organisations, in the National Library, The Australian Institute of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander Studies or an appropriate State library.

*  That every Church and other non-government agency which played a role in
the placement and care of Indigenous children forcibly removed from their
families provide detailed information about its records to the relevant Indigenous
Family Information Services.

»  That church and non-government welfare agencies that provide counselling
and support services to those affected by forcible removal review those services,
in consultation with Indigenous communities and organisations, to ensure they are
culturally appropriate.

* That the council of Australian Governments negotiate with the Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander Commission, the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Social Justice commissioner, the Secretariat of National Aboriginal and Islander
Child Care and the National Aboriginal and Islander Legal Services Secretariat
national legislation establishing a frame work for negotiations at Community and
regional levels for the implementation of self-determination in relation to the
well-being of Indigenous children and young people.

*kok



34

The Inquiry was of fundamental importance in validating the stories of
generations of Indigenous people who until now have carried the burden of one of
Australia's greatest tragedies. Indigenous families and communities have endured
gross violation of their human rights. These violations continue to affect
Indigenous people's daily lives. They were an act of genocide, aimed at wiping
out Indigenous families, communities and cultures, vital to the precious and
inalienable heritage of Australia. The Inquiry's recommendations were directed to
healing and reconciliation for the benefit of all Australians. A commitment to the
implementation of both the spirit and letter of the recommendations is essential to
the future of unity, justice and peace of the nation. Read the sympathetic manner
in which the Press reported on the Inquiry in the articles provided.
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He has since discovered his
real mother died not long after
his birth. His brother, Clem, hit
the grog after a stint in Jimmy
Sharman’s boxing troupe and is
now in a mental institution. His
sister, Irene, is dead.

In his submission to the

*inquiry this week. Burmum

Burnum told how he was sexu-
ally abused by the man into
whose care he was placed at
Kinchela. He also spoke of
physical abuse: “1 once acciden-

! tally threw a ball through a

window and for punishment |
was taken to the engine room
alone, ordered to drop my
trousers and bend over a chair
while he gave me 10 lashings of
the stock whip, leaving an indeli-
ble imprint forever and an
inability to sit down for months.”

Kinchela took boys from the
ages of about eight to 10. They
were initially placed in local
schools but by about the age of
14 most were indentured out to

. work until they were 18.

HE Government paid
convicted prisoners in
jail more than us —
we only got 25 cents

- per annum, or S2 in total for the

eight years of my imprisonment,”
Burnum Burnum said. “Us stolen
children became no man's land
people. We are now non-tribal,
non-initiated, non-reserve, non-
community, non-status Aborigi-
nes. We went back home with
polished accents, pompous atu-
tudes, superior education and
cash to buy our way back into the

| tribe, which alienated us even
| more.

 “Like prisoners and early

| convicts, we were fed by gov-

ernment stores in bulk. We were
fed on tons of*white sugar, white
bread of the worst quality,

| brains, tripe, the lot. We nearly
. all got diabetes.”

There have been many com-
plaints about all forms of abuse
at Kinchela in the 46 years it
operated between 1924 and
1970, according to Link-Up, an
Aboriginal group charged with
gathering together the stories of
stolen children for the course of
the national inquiry.

One inmate was locked in a
shed for a week and told to eat
hay, they said. There were also
reports that boys were tied to
trees and fences, whipped with
hosepipe and deprived of food.

Two government inquiries
into brutality at Kinchela failed
to put an end to it. In 1935 a
department inquiry into Kin-
chela showed that the manager,
a Mr McQuiggan, was an
alcoholic who used a stock whip
on the boys and would starve
them. The inquiry ordered that
the harsh treatment and the
practice of “loaning out boys™
to local farmers was to cease.
But the physical abuse contin-
ued well into the 1940s by the
time Burnum Burnum, Danny
Adams and Cecil Bowden got
there.

This week, one Link-Up
worker, Lola McNaughton, told
the Herald: “People were killed
there, we are sure of that”

McNaughton, who was taken
from her family in northern
NSW and sent to Cootamundra
girls' home, has reason to
believe her own brother may be
one of the boys buried in the
former boys' home at Kempsey.
“No-one has seen him since
Kinchela and there are others
like him who have simply gone
missing since t.hey were taken by
the Government,” she said.

Following information from
several men who were placed at
Kinchela, Link-Up has called for
an investigation of the former
boys' home for possible burial
sites. They deplored the poor

_state of Government records

The forgotten
kids of Kinchela

TWO CENTURIES
OF DISLOCATION

1788 Aboriginal children taken
from families and used as :
guides by settlers.

1814 Govemor Macquarie
establishes Native Institution
for Aboriginal Children to
“educate and civilise” them,

1878 First Aboriginal reserves
and missions created.

1883 Aboriginal Protection
Board formed to oversee mass
dislocation of Aboriginal people
from traditional lands in NSW
1o reserves and stations.
1909 Aboriginal Protection Act
gives legal sanction to the
board to remove Aboriginal
children from their families.
1915 Protection Act amended
1o give board power to remove
any child without parental
consent.

1923 Child Wetfare Act allows
for the adoption of Aboriginal
children by white famities.
1939 Definition of “neglected
child” expanded to include
children who do not regularty
attend school.

1940 Aboriginal Protection
Board replaced by Aboriginal
Weifare Board to oversee
policy of assimllation. All
Aboriginal people expected to
Iive like European Australians.
1943 Wetfare Board sends
children to foster parents.
1952 Fire destoys records
relating to “stolen chiidren.
1962 Aborigines gain the vote.
1967 Referendum result
recognises Aborigines as
Australlan citizens.

1969 Aboriginal Welfare Board
is abolished.

1972 NSW school principals
no longer have right to refuse
Aboriginal children.

More than 100,000
Aboriginal children believed
taken from their families by
Australlan govemments.
Between 1903 and 1930,
more than a third of Aboriginal
children taken from their
families: NSW Govenment
admits it oversaw the removal
of atleast 8,000.

National Inquiry into the
Separatlon of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander Children
from their Familles set up last
year to examine Impact of
past separatlon policies.
Ithas finished hearings In
NSW, Qid, Tasmanla, Yictoria,
SA and parts of WA. Its
findings are due in December.

about the running of the home.
*“In our search for stolen children
we have been able to find many
more ex-Cootamundra girls than
ex-Kinchela boys — there are
some people we know were in
Kinchela but we have no details
of their whereabouts,” she said.

ooao

IN its 200-page submission to the
mquxry. Link-Up called for com-
pensation to be paid to the
Aboriginal children of Kinchela,
as well as all children of the
“stolen generation™. Link-Up
wants the establishment of a
foundation, like the Jewish
Shoah Foundation, to document
the stories of people they call the
“survivors of the Aboriginal
holocaust™.

Although the six Link-Up stafl
were overwhelmed by how much
Aboriginal people had to say
about the separation from their
parents, they know many more
simply still cant talk. The journey
home to the truth is always the
hardest, McNaughton says.

Danny Adams not only made
that journey home, but last year
he also went back to Kinchela. "1
walked lhroufg.h the gates and it
hit me all of a sudden. I just
pictured myself there and 1 just
spat on the ground - | thought
this is what | think of you. |
turned: around and got back in
my car and drove off. | just
couldnt handle it”

He has had many jobs since
Kinchela, from wharfie to used
car salesman. He is married
with three daughters and lives in
Kurnell. When he went back to
his home town of Collarenebri,
he met a woman who had seen
the Welfare Board and police
take himself and his brother and
sister.

“I have been there four times
and every time she sees me she
cries. She feels guilty. Everyone
in town wanted to know what
the hell they did with (hose kids
they took away - us.”

He first met his mother four
years ago and has seen her only
three.times since. She is now 86.
They, first met on a park bench
in lhe town where he was born.

“1 said to her, 'l am your son.
*Oh,’ she said and her eyes just
sparkled and then a second later
she said, ‘You're not my son.’
Mate, the blinking pain. She
didn't” recognise me. The last
time she saw me | was three. All
that time she was searching for
us. But how can you search for
someone when you don't know
who they are?”

INCE Kinchela, Cecil
Eowdcn has been in and
ut of jail. He spent five
years inside for man-
slaughler and has been impris-
oned on other mincr charges.
He had a wife and three

children but he doesn't see -

much of them these days.

“I had a bad temper but °

when'[ left Kinchela | said [ was
not going to put up with any
more crap,” he said.

Thc time in jail made him
realisé he wanted to help others
breakthe cycle of institutions of
which:he had become a part. He
works: with the Aboriginal Chil-
dren's: Service helping young
convxclcd Kooris before they go
to court. “[ wanted to help them
because I think Aboriginal chil-
dren are still taken away today.
When: police pinch Koori kids
off the street today, it is like
what. they did to us all those
years:ago. It's telling them they
are no good.”

In recent years he has discov-
ered he has four natural brothers
and four sisters — two tracked
him down in a Redfern pub.

“When I found out my father
was alive 1 went to Cowra to
visit him. But I couldn’t call him
dad — there were just no ties
there — the Government took
all of that away.”

0oo

The national inquiry into the
“stolen children™ has heard
thousands of stories like these
three. But on the last day of its
Sydncy hcanngx yesterday, the
inquiry commissioner, ~"Mick
Dodson, read aloud Cecil Bow-
den’s story on behalf of all those
Aboriginal children in NSW
who were “stolen™. -

“For any of us to be alive
today is an achievement in itself.
Most find it hard to come back
to their families. Because of
their J)bnngmg a lot are
ashamed of their heritage. To

this day hundreds haven't gone .

back to their homes, Most have
turned to alcohol and drunk.

themselves to death. A large .

proportion never find out where
they are from and who are their
families.

“The stolen genenﬁon is the
forgotten generation.” , S
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1E young Aboriginal
oys gasped for breath
as the D36 locomotive
bellowed smoke into
the Hawkesbury tunnel.
It was 1946, and 10-
year-old Harry Penrith was one
of the boys aboard the stcam
train on his way to Kinchcla
boys’ home in Kempsey. He
cried all the way.
_ . Even 50 years later the details
of that trip — the smell of the
stecam, the tunnel, the engine
type — are marked indelibly on
his mind.

Born under a sacred treec at
Mosquito Bay, Wallaga Lake, on
the NSW South Coast, he was
taken by government order from
his mother and traditional home-
land at three months old.

He was brought up by nuns at a
mission in Bomaderry, where
most young Aborigines were sent
when first taken from their
parents. They were given new
names, birth dates and histories.
Before they had any chance to
leamn Aboriginal ways, the chil-
dren were taught that to be black
was bad; to be white was good.

When young Harry heard he
was to be sent to Kinchela, he
ran and hid. He was scared. It

was not just the thought of the
train ride, though that was
terrifying enough. Kinchela kids
told Bomaderry boys of the
beatings and lack of food at
Kempsey.

A year before the train trip, he
remembered newspaper head-
lines had screamed of train rides
on the other side of the world
where the German Government
had rounded up Jews and sent
them to their deaths. The NSW
Government was not sending
these boys to their deaths; at
least, that was not the intention.

But of the 45 who made the
trip to Kinchela with Harry
Penrith, only five are alive today.
Some claim the boys who went
missing from Kinchcla were
killed as a result of “foul play”
and want the grounds of the
former home scarched for grave
sites. Others, scarred by years of
abuse in government institu-
tions, came to early deaths from
alcoholism, diabetes or at their
own hands. This is the story of
three stolen children who sur-
vived that journey to Kinchela.

And those who never made it
home.

Danny Adams also remem-
bers the voyage from Bomaderry
to Kinchela as if it were yester-
day. He remembers lining up at
Central Station and the trip to
the. zoo..before they left

2 o gy

“They just told us we were
going on a train trip,” he said.
“They never told us where we
were going. A real long train trip

was a place where they thought
we were the animals. It was a
place where they kicked us like
dogs.”

Until he left Bomaderry for
Kinchela, Danny Adams had no
idea he was Aboriginal. He was
bprn in-Callarenebri, but is not
sure in which year; no record
exists of his birth. Other people
tell him he was taken from his

parents at the age of three. He
has no memory of his parents
from his childhood.

“We thought the nuns were
our parents. We thought they
were our mothers. | was defi-
nitely not told that | was
Aboriginal. What the sisters told
us was we had to be white.”

That process of denial of his
heritage continued when he

arrived at Kinchela. When they
got to Kempsey railway station
the manager came to meet them
in a red truck and told all the
boys to get in the back like cattle.
When they arrived at Kinchela
their “ports” with the Bibles
inside were set ablaze.

“They then took us_10'a room
and shaved our hair off and gave
us clothes made in Long Bay Jail
and stamped a number on them.

like you mightn't
even know when
you were coming
back. We all lined
up there with our
litde ports with a
Bible inside. That
was all that was
inside. [ think it was |,
an old man from La
Perouse who took
us on the train trip. =~
He brought us up to I~
Sydney and we
went to the zoo.
That was the last
time | saw an ani-
mal until we got to
that place. Kinchela

Brothers in arms. . . Danny A

second from left in front and Burnum Burnum is second from right.

dams, Burnum Burmnum and Cecil Bo

i

den, part of a lost
generation of Aboriginal children, reunited this week. In the top photo, Mr Adams is

Photograph by NICK MOIR

My number was 43.
Number 43 stuck to
me until I was 12
They never called
you by your name,
they called you by
your number. The
number was
stamped on cvery-
thing — even your
toothbrush. It was
just like a prison.”

The trip to Kin-
chela for Cecil
Bowden was to be
the first of many to
government institu-
tions. Born in
Cowra in 1939, he

has no memory of his mother,
and only a vaguc recollection of
his father, resplendent in army
uniform, once visiting the
Bomaderry mission. He was
taken away by the Government
at the age of 18 months.

For him the trip to Kinchela is
now sketchy — it is simply 100 -,
painful to recall. It makes him
too angry. He does remembers
leaving Kinchela for school
lessons where he was taught
about all the “atrocities the
blacks had carried out on carly
settlers™. He also remembers the
floggings, thc humiliation of
being stripped and then beaten.

1 have tried to wipc out the
memories because they are only
bad. That place was just like a
concentration camp.” ;

ooao

This week these three men
came together for the first time in
years in an Anglican church hall
in Redfern. It was the NSW
hearings of the National Inquiry
into the Separation of Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islanders Chil-

dren from their Families, and the
three had come to retell their,
tales. It was 1994 before Danny
could talk about Kinchela; and
this week was the first time Cecil
had spoken of those years. : -
The three reminisced about
Kinchela while the inquiry’s three
commissioners heard the. NSW
Government admit it bad sanc-
tioned the systematic removal of
at Jeast 8,000 Aboriginal children
from their families. In'front of an
Aboriginal flag flanked by a
Christian cross in the church hall,
the three pored over photos and
memories of those years on the
13-hectare institution downstream
from Kempscy towards South
West Rocks. Were it not for the*
tragic reason for their gathering, it -
could have been like any school
reunion. But the memones were
of shared adversity, sad tales of
survival At times each one had to .
leave the room to have a ay.
oog.. -
Harry Penrith, now 60, lives s
in a western Sydney suburb,:
where he is the only Aborigine. |
For reasons he cannot explain, *
he has.been back to his tradi-
tional homeland only three times *
in 40 years. MBS .
Harry Penrith has changeéd his -,
name back to his tribal one,—:
Burnum Burnum — and recently
ran for Federal Parliament pre~i
sclection in the seat of Blaxland:®
" Continued Page 3323513

-
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Aborigines to Protest
At Ceremony in Sydney

Group Will Try to Drown Out Prime Minister

By Michael Richardson

International Herald Tribune

PERTH, Australia — Prime Minister
John Howard of Australia and other
political and civic leaders will attend a
ceremony in Sydney on Saturday that is
intended ‘to advance proposals for re-
conciliation between the country’s in-
digenous black minority and its pre-
dominantly European majority.

But Peter Yu, executive director of the
Kimberley Land Council, which rep-
resents Aborigines living in the north-
west of Australia, says that he and sev-
eral other Aboriginal leaders will boy-
cott the event because Mr. Howard
heads a government that ‘‘cannot find
the generosity of spirit to say ‘sorry’’’
for the mistreatment of indigenous
people since European settlement of
Australia started in 1788.

" Angered by the government’s recent
refusal to make an official apology and
its attempt to downplay the significance
of the forcible removal of Aboriginal
children from their families under an
assimilation policy between the 1920s
and 1960s, other Aboriginal activists say
they will turn their backs and chant Mr.
Howard down when he speaks at the
Corroboree 2000 ceremony.

‘It was wrong then to steal our chil-
dren, to move our communities around
for administrative convenience, to deny
us the right to practice our law and
culture, to keep us excluded from the
benefits of a prosperous nation,”’ Mr. Yu
said. *‘It is wrong now to deny that those
things happened.”’

Numbering about 353,000 in a pop-
ulation of 19 million, Aborigines are the
most disadvantaged group in Australian

society in terms of health, life expectancy,.

education, housing and job prospects.
Mr. Yu said that partly as a result of

- colonization, Aboriginal communities

were filled with damaged people.

““Itis, tragically, of no surprise that so
many Aborigines are drug addicts,
drunks and people without hope or re-
sources, many of them dying before their
time — in custody or through alcohol
abuse or suicide,’’ he said.

Deteriorating relations between Ab-
origines and the government are tar-
nishing Australia’s image ahead of the
summer Olympic Games in Sydney,
which start in September. Aboriginal
groups have announced plans to stage
protests during the Games to show that
Australia is a “‘racist nation.”’

A Corroboree is a ceremonial abori-
ginal dance and the event Saturday was
organized by a council of indigenous and
nonindigenous Australians that was
formed in 1991 by a previous government
to advance black-white reconciliation.

The council will formally present its
Declaration Toward Reconciliation and }
a program of practical measures needed >
to sustain it. n

But Mr. Howard said this month thaty,
the government could not accept the-
council’s call for an apology for in-
justices or its proposals to recognize
Aboriginal customary law and the right
to self-determination.

The prime minister said previously
that it was unreasonable to expect the
current generation of Australians to
apologize for abuses they had nothing to
do with.

He said Thursday that past injustices
should be recognized, but that it was
more important to look forward than
backward.

Previous governments headed by the
Labor Party, which is now in opposition,
had set 2001, the centenary of Aus-
tralia’s federation, as the deadline for
achieving formal black-white reconcili-
ation. Mr. Howard, who leads a con-
servative coalition, abandoned the com-
mitment in March, saying the deadline
was artificial and had been a mistake.



1.2 Suggested Further Reading

Colin Bourke, Eleanor Bourke & Bill Edwards, Aboriginal Australia: an
introductory reader, University of Queensland Press, (St. Lucia, QLD, 1998).

Andrew Markus, Australian Race Relations 1788-1993, Allen & Unwin, (St
Leonards, NSW, 1994).

Henry Reynolds, Aboriginal Sovereignty: three nations, one Australia? (Sydney,
1996).

1.3 Review Questions
Was the assimilation policy in regard to Aboriginal children racist?
How did authorities justify their actions?

What impact would the Bringing Them Home inquiry have had on the
reconciliation process between white and black Australians?

Despite the recommendations, the Prime Minister, John Howard refused to say
sorry on behalf of the Federal Government even though State premiers has done
so. Should the Prime Minister have said sorry to the Aboriginal people of
Australia for the Stolen Generation?

Do you think the recommendations of the National Inquiry into the separation of
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children from their families go too far? Do
they not go far enough?

Why was the Press so sympathetic to the Aboriginal cause?

1.4 Epilogue

The problems of the Aboriginal people of Australia are an historical issue as
much as an issue for today. In the areas of health, education and unemployment
Aboriginal people suffer more than white Australians. While there have always
been humanitarians who have championed the cause of Aboriginal people, their
voices, until the late twentieth century, were little more than cries in the
wilderness. Land rights and the Stolen Generation are the issues for Aborigines
today. Until these problems are solved, whatever advances are made in the areas
of health and education will be meaningless. Without self-determination there will
be little hope that Aboriginal people can take their ri ghtful place as equal
participants in the rich tapestry that is Australian culture.
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Aborigines have not figured in the determination to find an Australian
national identity. This has been the province of the white male. The remainder of
this course turns to the impulses that forged Australia's national identity. It
examines how Australians see themselves and how they would like to be seen by
others. It takes into account the influences on Australia's sense of identity and
examines the influences on Australian culture brought on by war and its
aftermath.



Part 2
2.1 Australians at War:
"baptism by fire"

The major social political and economic events of the twentieth century have
contributed to Australia's national identity. Some historians have said that the
history of a nation is the history of its wars. In the case of Australia in the first
half of the twentieth century, this was partially true. Australians' involvement in
war was one of the key factors in the development of the nation's identity.
Australia was a part of the British Empire. As such, she was likely to be involved
in Britain's imperial wars.

Khartoum.

When General Charles Gordon was killed in Khartoum by the fanatical followers
of Mohammed Ahmed, the Mahdi (or Messiah), patriotic sentiment rippled
through the colonies. Emotional accounts of the fighting, and poems appeared in
newspapers. William Dalley, the Acting Premier of New South Wales, cabled
London, offering a force of artillery and infantry. The contingent raised was
small. Once it landed at Suakin, on the red Sea, in 1885, it played no part in
deciding the outcome of the war. The men who went there were more like
mercenaries than regular troops. Their pay was 5 shillings per day and their duty
was to shoot the enemies of Queen Victoria (in this case Arabs, Abyssinians,
Egyptians and Negroes).

The Boer War 1899-1902

By the middle of 1899, it was clear to most people in the world that there was
going to be a war in South Africa. The issue seemed simple enough. Britain
requested and then demanded that the quasi-independent Boer Republics of
Transvaal and the Orange Free State should give British aliens, who were paying
taxes there, the right to vote. But the Boers refused. Australian opinion was
overwhelmingly pro-British, for it was obvious that the fundamental point at issue
was not one of electoral rights but of British supremacy.

Even before hostilities began, Queensland, New South Wales and Victoria had
offered to supply troops for England. Late in September, when it was clear that
war was inevitable the military commandants of the various colonies met in
Melbourne and agreed that Australia should send a joint contingent of 2,500 men,
more than half of them mounted. The Colonial Secretary, Joseph Chamberlain,
welcomed the offer as an expression of Empire solidarity. When war broke out on
October 11 1899, Australian patriotic enthusiasm was overwhelming. Moved by a
desire to do their bit for the "old country" and by a longing for adventure,
thousands of young men volunteered for service.
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Although much of the initial enthusiasm in Australia had faded during the
war's duration of two and a half years, there was never much opposition to it, and
most Australians continued to believe that it had been right to come to Britain's
aid in time of need. Altogether Australia sent 850 officers and 15,600 other ranks
with 16,300 horses, to South Africa. Total casualties were about 1,400 of whom
38 officers and 480 other ranks were killed or died of illness. Six Victoria crosses
and many other decorations were won by Australians.

Boxer Uprising

While the Boer War was being fought, Australia was involved in yet another
imperial conflict. This was the Boxer Uprising in China. New South Wales and
Victoria sent a contingent of 451 naval volunteers. These men did not take part in
the famous defence of the foreign legations in Peking, but helped to police that
city and Tienstin for nine months after the fighting. Many British troops were
impressed with the loyalty to the imperial cause.

The First World War

Britain entered the Great War on August 4, 1914. Australia announced her
intention of supporting Britain, and declared war in the same month. The Prime
Minister, Joseph Cook, announced that: "Whatever happens, Australia is part of
the Empire to the full. Remember that when the Empire is at war so is Australia at
war." The leader of the Labor Party, and former Prime Minister, Andrew Fisher
said: "Turn your eyes to the European situation, and give the kindest feelings
towards the mother country at this time...Australians will stand beside our own
and defend her to our last man and our last shilling." Although there had been
times when Australia had resented Britain‘s interference in her affairs, once war
had become a reality such feelings were washed away in a flood of patriotism and
solidarity with the Mother Country.

Australians everywhere rallied to the cause. Everywhere people waited for the
latest news from Europe. Crowds formed outside newspaper offices. The National
Anthem and "Rule Britannia" were sung in music halls, theatres, lecture theatres,
and school halls. Composers and poets helped as well. W.W. Francis wrote the
Chorus:

Rally round the banner of your country,

Take the field with brothers o'er the foam;

On land or sea, wherever you be,

Keep your eye on Germany.

But England, home and beauty, have no cause to fear;
Should old acquaintance be forgot?-

No!No!No!No! Australia will be there....

Australia will be there.



Frank Johnstone, a Bulletin poet, wrote in Sons of Australia:

For Britain! Good old Britain!
Where our fathers first drew breath,
We'll fight like true Australians,
Facing danger, wounds or death.

The Australian Government had a small, but modern navy. It now decided to
raise a specially recruited military force of 20,000 men. The rush to enlist was a
nation-wide phenomenon. It was the young men who had been the babies of the
early 1890s who were most affected. But the excitement and the anticipation and
the social pressures induced men of all ages and occupations to turn up for the
medical examination. A vivid account was given by T.W. Heney, Editor of the
Sydney Morning Herald:

Document

The young men of the universities, the lads of the greater public schools, of
the state high schools, and of the primary schools, the students in private and
religious houses of education, rushed to the colours. From many of these
institutions both pupils and masters enlisted, and the work of the schools was
interrupted or dislocated. It proved necessary to frame special official
regulations to prevent the enlistment of minors without their parents’
knowledge and consent. From the factories and shops groups of comrades
enlisted in a body. Fathers and sons, brothers, uncles and nephews, brothers-
in-law came up to the barracks, and some of the bitterest moments of those
early days of war, previous to the graver tragedies of death and disablement,
were those when the medical examination, then extremely exacting, parted
fathers and sons, or other comrades. Many a man stumbled oft to the barrack
gates unable to answer the greetings of his friends, with unaccustomed tears
in his eyes, as he knew himself rejected, while he left behind to the chances of
war a son or some mate dearest to his heart. The public services and the
professions were suddenly embarrassed by the enlistment of their members.
Trades, manufactures, businesses suffered in the same proportion. From
station and farm, from camps of drovers, shearers, tanksinkers, and fencers,
from survey parties and gangs of railway labourers, from mining camps and
prospectors' parties, from river-men and opal-gougers, from groups of
rabbiters and kangaroo-shooters, from carriers and motor-men, from all
sections of the distant and isolated labour of the Australian back country, the
enlistment offices received splendid material, but in such quantity as
endangered harvest and wool-clip. Numbers of pastoralists sent not only as
many of their sons as could pass the doctors, but also numbers of their
employees, often equipping them. Numbers of young men, rejected under the
then exceptionally rigorous medical tests, but refusing to rest under the
stigma of cowardice or indifference, formed an association, and wore on
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their coat-lapels a badge to show that they had volunteered. More than a few
young men who appeared indifferent received white feathers by post, or the
cold shoulder in public, from girls or women who had been their friends. In
some instances clubs and athletic bodies barred out members of military age
who showed no disposition to shoulder military duty. Unhappily, many an
injustice was thus committed, and frequently young men who would have
given much to have been able to serve, but for some genuine reason were
unable, silently endured long misrepresentation and affront. Therein lay one
of the defects of the voluntary system; another - as it was to be discovered -
lay in the disproportionately heavy toll of the young and patriotic.

Both the navy and military force would be placed at the disposal of the
British High Command. The military force, or AIF (Australian Imperial force),
was placed under the command of Brigadier-General W.T. Bridges. He was
responsible for its early development. He thought that it should comprise three
brigades of infantry and one Light Horse (or cavalry) brigade. It was hoped that
many men who had undergone military training in the nation's militia, and who
had served in the Boer War, would enlist. Volunteers would make up the balance.
High physical standards were set and good pay offered. Privates received six
shillings, or "six bob" a day.

The Government had no need to worry about a lack of volunteers. They
almost jammed the recruiting offices. City men enlisted first. As news spread to
the country, country men enlisted too. Many were swept away on a wave of
patriotism. Many thought that the war would be a romantic adventure in their
lives, and quickly over. By the end of the first year, 50,000 men had enlisted, and
a second division was formed. Men were trained on sports grounds in cities and
camps in the country. While they trained, wagons harnesses, saddles, uniforms,
tents, and other supplies were manufactured, food and medical supplies were
collected, and ships refitted as troop transports. This was the beginning of the
ANZAC Corps - a corps of Australian and New Zealand army personnel. The
ships left on 1 November for Britain, via the Suez Canal. British and Australian
warships formed an escort. On the way, the Australian cruiser, HMAS Sydney
engaged the Emden, a German raider, which had been sent to destroy the radio
station on the Cocoas Islands. The Emden was disabled and captured within an
hour. Three Australians were killed, and fifteen wounded in the action.

While the ANZACS waited in Egypt, plans were being made in Britain.
Turkey had entered the War in October 1914. The Turks menaced two points -
one on the border of the Russian Empire, and the other on the east bank of the
Suez Canal. Lord Kitchener, the Secretary of State for War, hoped to defeat the
Turks quickly, and remove this menace. So did Winston S. Churchill, the First
Lord of the Admiralty. He believed that an Anglo-French fleet could force an
entrance through the Dardanelles, and sail to Constatinople. The fleet could then
bombard the ancient city, which hopefully would surrender quickly. With the



capital seized, the rest of Turkey would also collapse. This would open a route
through to Russia, and allow the allies to attack the enemy in Europe from another
angle. Churchill saw Constantinople as the soft underbelly of the Central Powers.

Churchill's naval action was tried, but failed miserably. Nearly all the ships
used were old and, in many cases, needed a refit. The command situation was
poor, and the Turks had laid minefields in the narrows and dug in batteries on
both shores overlooking the mines. The gunners aboard the ships smashed some
to the Turkish batteries, but three ships were lost on a minefield in one day and
the attack had to be called off. By this time, it became obvious that troops would
have to be used in an amphibious assault on the Gallipole Peninsula. Once landed,
these troops could fight their way eastwards, across the peninsula, and take the
coastal forts and guns from behind. The ships would then be able to clear the
minefields and sail through to Constantinople. General Sir Ian Hamilton was
placed in command of a Mediterranean Expeditionary Force, consisting of some
70,000 British, dominion and French troops.

On 1 April 1915, the ANZACS were informed that all leave had been
cancelled. On 3 April the men were ordered into trains and taken to the port of
Alexandria. There they boarded ships again, and these ships sailed north, towards
the Greek Island of Lemmos. There they met with other Allied ships, to form a
formidable armada of 200 warships and transports. These ships set sail for
Gallipole on the evening of 24 April.

Before dawn on 25 April, the ANZACS climbed down into small rowing
boats, clutching their rifles and equipment. These boats were then towed by
steamboats over 4 kilometres to shore. The ANZACS were supposed to land in a
small cove one and a half kilometres north of a small promontory called Gaba
Tepe, establish a beachhead, and move inland, overcoming the Turks.
Unfortunately, there were strong currents, and these currents swept the boats into
another cove, later to be named Anzac Cove. Here there was a beach, and behind
that a steep hill rising about 100 metres straight up. It was a spot which had been
designated impossible for landing. As the boats came in, the men tumbled into the
water, and ran up onto the beach. As they came ashore, they were met by rifle and
machine-gun fire from the heights above. The Turks were comfortably
entrenched, and could pick their marks. For the first time in their history,
Australian and New Zealand troops fell wounded and dying together, in the boats,
in the water, on the beach, and amongst the scrub upon the hill. 10

A representative of the London Daily Telegraph described the initial assault
in emotive language:

10 Ronald Laidlaw, The Land They Found, Macmillan, (South Melbourne, 1979), pp. 214-19.
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Document

The Australians rose to the occasion. Not waiting for orders, or for the boats
to reach the beach, they sprang into the sea, and, forming a sort of rough
line, rushed at the enemy's trenches.

Their magazines were not charged, so they just went in with cold steel.

It was over in a minute. The Turks in the first trench were either bayoneted or
they ran away, and their Maxim was captured.

Then the Australians found themselves facing an almost perpendicular cliff of
loose sandstone, covered with thick shrubbery. Somewhere, about always up,
the enemy had a second trench, strongly held, from which they poured a
terrible fire on the troops below and the boats pulling back to the destroyers
for the second landing party.

Here was a tough proposition to tackle in the darkness, but those colonials,
practical above all else, went about it in a practical way.

They stopped for a few minutes to pull themselves together, got rid of their
packs, and changed their magazines.

Then this race of athletes proceeded to scale the cliffs without responding to
the enemy's fire.

They lost some men, but did not worry.

In less than a quarter of an hour the Turks were out of their second position,
either bayoneted or fleeing.

There has been no finer feat in this war then this sudden landing in the dark
and storming the heights, above all holding on whilst the reinforcements were

landing....!!

The men gained a foothold under the guns but were then stopped by the
Turks, and could go no further, Meanwhile, more men landed on the beach below.
By nightfall, thousands of troops had come ashore. The landing was achieved at
tremendous cost. Generals Birdwood and Bridges wanted to withdraw the men,
but General Hamilton, aboard the Queen Elizabeth, refused, and ordered the men
to "dig in" and "stick it out". Hence the term "digger" was coined to describe
Australian soldiers in the First World War. In August, the ANZACS were
reinforced by British troops. Attempts were made to move further inland. Some
ground was covered, but could not be held. On Sari Bair, there was bitter hand-to-
hand fighting, and 4, 000 men died. By September, the beach and foothills were
jammed with some 105,000 men, 20,000 mules, and 3,000 horses, plus stores and
provisions. By this time men were huddled in a complex of trenches and dug outs.
After eight months the troops were withdrawn from Gallipoli and taken back to
Egypt. The Australians had lost 7,600 men and sustained 19,000 wounded. The
New Zealanders lost 2,500 men and 5,000 were wounded. The French lost as
many as the ANZAC force combined. The British lost nearly three times as many.

1 Quoted in /bid. pp. 219-20.



Back Home

From the horror of war the spirit and legend of the ANZAC was born. Australians
came to believe that they had proven themselves to be first-rate soldiers. From a
race of bushmen and pioneers a new national image was born and there was a new
national day to celebrate. Every April 25 Australians celebrate ANZAC Day. This
is an annual day of remembrance of those who did not return. But it also is a
commemoration of a battle they did not win. At Suvla Bay on the Gallipoli
Peninsula in Turkey a national identity was formed and that was drawn upon in all
subsequent wars in which Australians fought. Andrew Fisher, sent a cable to the
Secretary of State for the Colonies:

The government and people of Australia are deeply gratified to learn that their
troops have won distinction in their first encounter with the enemy. We are
confident that they will carry the King's colours to further victory.!2

Kind George